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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take 
no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy 
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising 
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

DADI INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
大地國際集團有限公司

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 8130)

ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 

AND 
RESUMPTION OF TRADING

References are made to the announcements of Dadi International Group Limited (the “Company”, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) dated 28 June 2024 (the “Announcement”) in 
relation to, among other things, the delay in publication of audited annual results announcement 
and annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “2024 Annual Results 
Announcement”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same 
meanings as those defined in the Announcement.

The auditor of the Group (the “Auditor”), HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, has completed 
the audit process on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2024.

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is pleased to announce 
the 2024 Annual Results Announcement. This 2024 Annual Results Announcement, containing 
the full text of the 2024 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements 
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in relation to information to accompany preliminary 
announcements of annual results. Printed version of the 2024 annual report of the Company 
will be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company and available for viewing on the website 
of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the 
Company at http://www.dadi-international.com.hk in late July 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming 2024 annual general 
meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 24 September 2024 to 27 
September 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. 
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the aforementioned meeting, all completed transfer 
documents, accompanied by relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Hong Kong 
branch share registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 September 2024.
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RESUMPTION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on the Stock 
Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 July 2024 pending the release of 
the 2024 Annual Results Announcement. Application has been made by the Company to the Stock 
Exchange for the resumption of trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange with effect from 
9:00 a.m. on 29 July 2024.

By Order of the Board of 
Dadi International Group Limited 

Wu Xiaoming 
Executive Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 July 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises of one executive Director, namely 
Mr. Wu Xiaoming, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ju Mengjun and Mr. Zhang 
Xiongfeng, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui 
Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo.

This announcement, for which the directors of the Company collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose 
of giving information with regard to the Company. The directors of the Company, having made 
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information 
contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not 
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any 
statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the website 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at www.hkexnews.hk for at least 7 days from the 
date of its publication and the Company’s website at http://www.dadi-international.com.hk.
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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which 

a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 

investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the 

decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that 

securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the 

Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 

report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for 

any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Dadi International Group Limited (the “Company” and 

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars 

given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM 

Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all 

reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report 

is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no any other matters 

the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
 

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, I hereby present the results of 

the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”).

This fiscal year, with the unfavorable economic environment and business recovery, the Group has experienced 

a difficult year. On the one hand, the end of the COVID-19 epidemic did not make the market economy recover 

quickly. On the contrary, some potential impacts of the epidemic broke out after the end of the epidemic, leading 

to the continued contraction of many industries, including the environmental consulting service industry; On the 

other hand, two executive directors of the Company were taken away for investigation by the Shanxi Provincial 

Commission for Discipline Inspection in China until their resignation, the Company was unable to expand and 

promote its business normally for a considerable period of time. Despite the above, the overall operation of the 

Group still demonstrates its resilience. With the coordinated efforts of the Board and management, the Group is 

committed to making every effort to collect accounts receivable, greatly reducing operating costs, and maintaining a 

stable source of income for its environmental protection business.

The Group’s principal revenue drivers for the Year comprise the provision of the environmental consultancy services 

and the sales of healthcare products. The Group recorded a year-on-year decrease of approximately 46.5% from that 

of approximately HK$36.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”) to that of approximately HK$19.5 

million for the Year. The year-on-year decrease in the Group’s revenue for the Year was mainly attributable to the 

market contraction of environmental consulting services business and the adjustment of healthcare product sales 

business. Nevertheless, the Group recorded an improvement of the loss for the Year from that of approximately 

HK$332.9 million for FY2023 to that of HK$91.2 million for the Year, such mainly being attributable to the combined 

effect of (i) the decrease in the revenue of the Group as mentioned above, (ii) the decrease in the costs of sales of 

the Group, (iii) the decrease in the administrative expenses incurred by the Group due to the cost-saving measures 

implemented by the Group in light of the difficult business environment, and (iv) significant reduction in provisions 

for expected credit losses. Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Financial 

Review” in this annual report for details.

Over the past year, we can see that many countries around the world, including China, have announced multiple 

policies to stimulate the economy, but the overall economic situation is still not optimistic. The Group will prudently 

evaluate the prospects of various industries and operate steadily while maintaining its existing business operations. 

It will also vigorously develop new business growth points and strive to achieve greater improvement in its operating 

performance in the coming financial year.

Finally, I would like to thank our Board members, management and staff for their contributions to the Group. I 

would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, business partners, customers and suppliers for 

their continued support.

Mr. Wu Xiaoming 

Interim Chairman
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General

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in the provision of environmental consultancy services and sales of 

healthcare products.

Business Overview

Industry Overview

Environmental Protection Service Industry

In respect of environmental consultancy services, the Chinese environmental consulting service industry in China has 

the characteristics of a large number of enterprises and a relatively dispersed industry concentration. With the further 

relaxation of the national qualification control for environmental consulting services, barriers in government approval, 

enterprise qualifications, market pricing and other aspects are gradually being broken down. The marketization level 

of the industry is rapidly increasing, making the market competition in the environmental consulting service industry 

fierce, and there are numerous enterprises engaging in detailed business within the industry.

The government of China attaches great importance to environmental protection and sustainable development, and 

has introduced a series of policies to encourage and support the development of the environmental consulting service 

industry. For example, the “Opinions on Comprehensively Promoting the Construction of a Beautiful China” proposes 

to establish and improve an environmental governance system, enhance environmental governance capabilities, and 

provide a broad market space for the environmental consulting service industry. In addition, the government has also 

increased investment in the environmental protection industry, promoting technological innovation and industrial 

upgrading in the environmental consulting service industry.

With the continuous improvement of environmental awareness and the increasingly strict environmental policies, the 

environmental consulting service industry will usher in a broader development space. In the future, the environmental 

consulting service industry will develop towards specialization, refinement, characterization, and novelty. Enterprises 

in the industry will pay more attention to technological innovation and service quality, and improve market 

competitiveness. At the same time, with the continuous development and application of Internet, big data, artificial 

intelligence and other technologies, the environmental consulting service industry will also usher in digital and 

intelligent transformation and upgrading.

Overall, from 2023 to 2024, the environmental consulting service industry has shown a good development trend 

in terms of market size, competitive landscape, policy environment, and development trends. In the future, with 

the continuous improvement of environmental awareness and the increasingly strict environmental policies, the 

environmental consulting service industry will usher in a broader development space.



7Dadi International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis
 

Healthcare Products Industry

The enthusiasm for new healthcare materials, technologies, formulations and products has been increasing in recent 

years. With the stagnified competition among the domestic healthcare and functional food producers, the public 

had turned to look for overseas resources and supplies. Meanwhile, the higher disposable income of residents in the 

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) has promoted the demand for better lifestyles and the consumption pattern 

transfers from affordable products to high-quality and diversified products. In addition, imported products can offer 

opportunities for potentially higher premiums with more diversified types for selection by the customers. Further, 

overseas products with innovative formulas usually offer better functional experience, and healthy snack products are 

usually favoured by and has become popular among domestic consumers.

Healthcare product demand has remained strong in recent years. Whilst healthcare and functional food product will 

be an essential element in the realisation of the comprehensive healthcare awareness in the PRC, the per capital 

consumption of healthcare products in the PRC remains to be far behind with that of other developed countries 

such as Japan and the United States. Therefore, with the increased consumption level of the public in the PRC, it is 

expected that there will be much growth potential for the sales of imported healthcare products.

Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic had raised the public awareness for a healthy lifestyle and bodily care. 

Particularly, alongside with the extended “long COVID” symptoms suffered by certain patients, quality healthcare 

products and functional food supplements have received higher level of attention and have become increasing 

welcomed by the public.

Business Review

With the unfavorable economic environment and business recovery, the Group has experienced a difficult year, and 

despite the above, the overall operation of the Group still demonstrates its resilience. With the coordinated efforts 

of the board of directors and management, the Group is committed to making every effort to recover accounts 

receivable, greatly reducing operating costs, and investing resources to maintain a stable source of income for its 

environmental protection business.

Environmental Consultancy Services

In this year, the environmental consulting services division remained the main driving force for the Group’s revenue. 

In this year, environmental protection, maintenance, and restoration have received public attention. At the same 

time, strengthening environmental protection policies and regulations, especially in areas such as urbanization 

development, infrastructure and construction project planning, has promoted the demand for environmental 

consulting services. In this year, the Group continued to invest more resources to stabilize and develop its branch 

businesses.

During the Year, the Group’s business in the environmental consulting services segment has shrunk due to the impact 

of the market environment. The business segment contributed revenue of approximately HK$19.5 million (FY2023: 

HK$34.7 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 43.8%.
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Healthcare Products

The COVID-19 pandemic has raised the public’s attention towards healthcare industry in general. The Group, as 

a continuing initiative to explore profitable markets and develop presence and expertise in these areas taking 

advantage of its current resources and network, commenced the sales of healthcare product business segment during 

the Year. The Group introduced various healthcare products from overseas markets for sales in the PRC through 

electronic platforms. The healthcare products comprised primarily of dietary supplements which aimed to support 

the metabolism and internal circulation of human beings. Meanwhile, as part of the strategies to expand the target 

customer group to the younger generations, the Group was introducing chewable functional natto snacks as well as 

other series of healthcare products featuring functional dietary fiber ingredients as part of its product portfolio to 

match the youth’s trend for the growing support for healthcare and dietary supplements in the PRC.

During the Year, the Group recorded sales of approximately HK$20,000 (FY2023: HK$1.6 million), representing 

a year-on-year decrease of approximately 98.8%. The decrease in the sales of healthcare products was mainly 

attributable to the Company’s business in this year focused on adjusting the origin of raw materials, improving 

processing technology and putting forth effort on the development of new products, in order to better meet the 

needs of the market.

Publication, Purchase and Distribution of Books

From the perspective of prudent capital management, the Group has been forced to suspend the publishing, 

procurement, and distribution of books business in the generally poor industry conditions. Especially, there has 

been no favorable turning point in the flow of funds among industry participants. The general tightening of its cash 

flow has led to almost stagnation in the settlement of income and expenses throughout the entire industry chain, 

including those from downstream customers of the Group (i.e. book distributors), and has brought unfavorable 

operating conditions to the book publishing, procurement, and distribution branches.

The Group had maintained a close monitoring of the industry situation over the Year, and was taking active steps 

to recoup the outstanding receivables from certain downstream distributors as part of its ongoing commitment to 

maintain its liquidity and financial position to facilitate its business operations and development. For instance, the 

Group is in the process of undergoing various legal proceedings in the PRC against the downstream distributors on 

contractual claims. The Group is minded to enhance its effort in safeguarding the Group’s interest and its current 

entitlement, including taking further course of action to demand immediate settlement of outstanding fees and 

receivables, and seeking compensation and remedies from the counterparties as and when appropriate.
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Financial Leasing and Other Financial Services

Financial leasing business

The financing leasing business of the Group has been suspended. On October 27, 2023, the State Administration for 

Financial Supervision and Administration issued the Notice on Promoting the Standardized Operation and Compliance 

Management of Financial Leasing Companies. The Group will strictly comply with relevant regulations and timely 

carry out new financial leasing business.

Other financial services

The Group hereby notifies its shareholders and potential investors that, as of the date of this annual report, the 

Group’s financial leasing and other financial services (“Financial Services Division”), other than its financial leasing 

business (currency lending and P2P business), have permanently ceased. This is especially in view of the fact that the 

COVID-19 has led to the deterioration of the financial situation and/or the decline of the repayment ability of many 

commercial entities in different industries, many enterprises have financial difficulties, and the accumulation of non-

performing assets of financial institutions has made China’s macroeconomic situation worse.

Business Model

Prior to its permanent cessation, the Group’s Other Financial Services Business generally comprised of two business 

models, namely (i) the money lending model (the “Money Lending Model”); and (ii) the P2P Business model (the “P2P 

Business Model”), and were principally operated by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, namely First FinTech 

(Shanghai) Company Limited*（眾網金融科技（上海）有限公司）(“First FinTech”) at the material times.

Money Lending Model

In respect of the Money Lending Model, the Group focused on the provision of loan financing to corporate 

customers as opposed to mass customer market. The loans were generally provided to those corporate customers for 

their working capital purpose and day-to-day trading activities. Such loans were generally in the form of a term loan 

with third-party guarantees.

*  For identification purpose only
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P2P Business Model

In respect of the P2P Business Model, as disclosed in the 2017 annual report of the Company, the Group tapped into 

the P2P Business during the year ended 31 March 2017 when such business was becoming increasingly prevalent 

in the private lending market at the material times. Under the model, First FinTech maintained an internet platform 

(the “Platform”) whereby individual and corporate users (the “Users”) may register for accounts to have access to 

the Group’s services under the Platform. The existing creditors of certain corporate loans (being loans unrelated to 

the Group) may apply to First FinTech to publish the information of their existing receivables under the loans as well 

as the underlying loan details (including the size and term of the loans and identities of the debtors, etc.) and invite 

other users to acquire certain portions of such receivables.

The major roles of First FinTech in the P2P Business Model were to provide platform maintenance and information 

display services to the parties, to provide custodian services to the parties for the fund transfers involved in the sale 

and purchase of the portion of the receivables and upon repayment by the debtors, and to assist the Users to take 

measures to collect the outstanding loan principal and interests under the receivables (such as by way of issuing 

reminders to the debtors for repayment of such, and if necessary, to request for guarantors to comply with their 

guarantee obligations with respect to the loan repayment), as and when they became due. As such, the assignment 

of the receivables under the loans, as well as the debtor-creditor relationships underlying the loans, remained to be 

among the debtors, the original creditors and the Users (being the new creditors of the loans for the portion of the 

receivables taken up by them) only.

Subsequent cessation of the P2P Business Model

Subsequently, in around 2018 and 2019, alongside with the deterioration of the quality of such peer-to-peer lending 

activities managed by other financial services providers in the PRC which led to the heightened control over such 

business, during the Year, the Group gradually ceased the P2P Business Model. Further, upon communication with 

the relevant authorities and stemming from the perspective to fulfill the corporate responsibility for protecting 

the public Users of the Platform under the P2P Business Model, First FinTech acquired the receivables from those 

Users and became the creditors of those loans. The Company would wish to emphasize that, as advised by its PRC 

legal advisers, the operations of the P2P Business Model had been in compliance with the applicable PRC laws and 

regulations at the material times.
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Major Terms of the Loan Agreements

Set out below are the general terms of the loan agreements under the Money Lending Model and the P2P Business 

Model.

Term : approximately 12 months for the loan under the Money Lending Model; and

approximately 90 days to 180 days for the loan under the P2P Business Model

Purpose : general working purposes; or

day-to-day trading activities (such as procurement of raw materials)

Repayment : interest shall be repaid monthly, and the principal of the loan shall be repaid upon 

the expiry of the term of the loan

Security/Guarantee : third party individual or corporate guarantor(s) shall provide guarantee in respect 

of the repayment obligations of the borrower(s)

Credit Risk Assessment Policy

It was the policy of the Group that all customers under the Financial Services Segment would be subject to the credit 

risk assessment and background search by the designated members of the product team (the “Product Team”) in 

First FinTech as part of the “know your client” procedures. The procedures would generally involve the following key 

steps:

Application

An applicant for a loan or an User may be required to produce the following documents and information:

(i) identity documents and basic information of the applicant/individual User;

(ii) for corporate applicant/User, the following may be required:

(a) incorporation/establishment certificate and business license;

(b) statutory records including registers of directors and members;

(c) identity documents and proof of ownership of the ultimate beneficial owner; and

(d) latest audited financial statements including balance sheet and income statement, and where 

applicable, latest management accounts;

(iii) the above items in respect of the guarantor; and

(iv) details of the proposed loan amount and intended term and purpose of the loan.



Management Discussion and Analysis
 

12 Dadi International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

Due diligence and assessment

Upon receipt of the above information, the Product Team would review the materials and conduct background 

search against the customers in relation to any material court or insolvency proceedings and other adverse media 

or publication against them. The credit evaluation process would also involve, among others, (i) retrieving the credit 

reports of the borrowers and guarantors, and if necessary, to seek clarifications from them as to particular issues 

flagged in the reports; (ii) locating any negative credit rating or declaration of loss of credit by the government 

authorities against the borrowers and guarantors (and the ultimate beneficial owners where corporate entities were 

involved); (iii) understanding the background and business operations of the borrowers and the guarantors; (iv) 

reviewing the historical and existing credit records of the borrowers and guarantors; and (v) assessing the creditability 

and repayment ability of the borrowers through understanding their liquidity and financial conditions as reflected in 

the financial statements and management accounts.

Approval of the application

The Product Team would then prepare a credit assessment report setting out, among others, its view as to the 

financial capability and key financial ratios of the borrower, and other key terms including the proposed principal 

amount, interest rate and duration of the loan. The report would be submitted for review and confirmation by the 

risk management department, the legal department, the operations department and the finance department, and 

subject to the final approval by the office of the general manager.

Loan issuance and monitoring

Upon approval of the loan application, the legal department and the finance department of First FinTech would 

prepare the relevant loan and guarantee documents and arrange for the execution by the relevant parties. Upon 

completion of the formalities, the loan would be granted to the customer accordingly.

Other Internal Control Measures

First FinTech had also in place internal control measures for the subsequent monitoring and loan recovery processes 

as follows.

Loan monitoring

The finance department of First FinTech was tasked with the responsibility to oversee the monitoring functions of 

the loan portfolio and recoverability of the individual loans. The monitoring process included ascertaining the actual 

usage of the loan, the business and financial conditions of the borrowers and the overall industry outlook, issuing 

reminders of repayment schedule and understanding any potential difficulties envisaged by the borrowers to repay 

the outstanding principals and interests on time. A dedicated settlement team was also established to work with the 

finance department to constantly monitor, approve and effect the custodian fund flows and the general operations 

of the Platform.
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Where the finance department became aware of any circumstances which might possibly impair the borrowers’ 

ability to honour their repayment obligations or otherwise negatively affect the collectability of the outstanding 

loan and other receivables, the matter would be brought to the attention of the office of the general manager of 

First FinTech for consideration by the management for the appropriate follow-up actions to be taken, which would 

involve, among others, (i) discuss with the borrowers about their financial and cash flow conditions and alternative 

ways to improve the situation; and (ii) requesting them to provide additional guarantee. The managers may also 

choose to consider and/or negotiate loan extensions or new repayment proposals with the borrowers should the 

underlying default risk was considered to be acceptable.

Repayment collection

In the event when a loan became overdue, the matter shall be escalated promptly to the management for discussion 

and deliberation of the appropriate follow-up actions, including to determine whether to regard such as a delinquent 

loan. Reminders and demand letters would be issued by First FinTech for all overdue loan repayment, coupled with 

telephone calls to the relevant persons to urge them for repayment and/or to notify the guarantors of the default. 

Where the outstanding amount had been overdue for a period of time, the management would issue formal request 

to the guarantors to honour their guarantee obligations, failing which the management would consider to seek legal 

actions which included instructing external legal counsels to issue demand letters to both the borrowers and the 

guarantors and to commence legal proceedings against them to recover the outstanding amount.

Size and Diversity of the Debtors And Concentration of the Loans

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 19 debtors under the Financial Services Segment, being corporate debtors 

engaging in various industries such as food processing and distribution, e-commerce, investment consultancy, vehicle 

sales and parts trading, construction material trading and travel agency services. The gross outstanding amount of 

the loans to the above debtors ranged from approximately RMB0.1 to RMB18 million with the applicable interest rate 

of approximately 7% to 9%. The loan portfolio fell within the following bands:

Gross outstanding amount

Number of loans 

under the band

From RMB15 million to RMB20 million 4

From RMB10 million to RMB15 million 1

From RMB5 million to RMB10 million 1

From RMB1 million to RMB5 million 5

Under RMB1 million 8

Total 19

Further, as at 31 March 2024, the top five debtors accounted for approximately 81% of the gross outstanding 

amount of the loans.
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Loan Impairment Assessment

The Group applied the general approach, which is often referred to as the “three-stage model”, under HKFRS 9, 

in which the ECL of loan and other receivables are determined based on (i) the changes in credit quality of the 

receivables since initial recognition; and (ii) the estimated expectation of an economic loss of the receivables under 

consideration.

Under the general approach, there are two measurement bases for allowance of ECL: (i) 12-month ECL, which are 

the ECL that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date and are calculated 

as the allowance for ECL on the receivables weighted by the probability of default accumulated over the 12 months 

after the reporting date; and (ii) lifetime ECL, which are the ECL that result from all possible default events over 

the expected life of the receivables and are calculated as the allowance for ECL on the receivables weighted by 

the probability of default accumulated over the entire life of the receivables. Assessment are conducted based on 

the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 

conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 

conditions.

The Group measured the loss allowance of the receivables based on 12-month ECL, unless when there had been 

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognised lifetime ECL. The assessment of 

whether lifetime ECL should be recognised was based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default 

occurring since initial recognition. Further details as to the ECL model and its application to assessment of the 

receivables and determination of the allowance of ECL are set out in the paragraphs headed “– Financial instruments 

– Financial assets – Impairment of financial assets“ and “– Financial risk management objectives and policies – credit 

risk” under notes 4 and 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively.

The Group recorded accumulated allowance for ECL in the amount of approximately HK$109 million for the Year in 

respect of the loan and other receivables under the Financial Services Segment, among which full provisions in a total 

of approximately HK$109 million had been made in respect of those under the P2P Business Model, those having 

been overdue some time prior to the Financial Services Segment Suspension. As at the date of this announcement, 

the Group had launched legal proceedings and obtained judgment against all the borrowers and/or guarantors in 

respect of the loans under the P2P Business Model. The Group was in the process of undergoing the enforcement 

proceedings or participating in the winding-up or bankruptcy proceedings against the borrowers and/or the 

guarantors in the PRC. Further disclosure in relation to the progress of the above proceedings and recovery of the 

outstanding receivables will be made by the Company as and when appropriate in compliance with the applicable 

laws and regulations and subject to the order of the court from time to time.
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Financial Review

Revenue

The Group recognised revenue of approximately HK$19.5 million for the Year, representing a year-on-year decrease 

of approximately 46.5% as compared to that of approximately HK$36.5 million for FY2023.

During the Year, the Group principally derived its revenue from the provision of environmental consultancy services. 

Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s segment revenue and results for the Year and FY2023.

Advertising and media

related services

Financial leasing and

other financial services

Publication, purchase and

distribution of books

Environmental 

consultancy services Healthcare products Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers – – – – – 120 19,513 34,726 20 1,636 19,533 36,482

The year-on-year decrease in the Group’s revenue for the Year was mainly attributable to the market contraction of 

environmental consulting services business and the adjustment of healthcare product sales business.

Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Business Review” in this annual report 

for further details of the segmental financial performance of the Group.

Cost of Sales

The costs of sales of the Group consisted primarily of costs directly attributable to the provision of its services and 

sales of goods, which mainly included, among others, the direct labour and staff costs associated to the provision of 

services, the costs of goods sold in respect of the sales of healthcare products; and the project costs for outsourced 

technology services for the purpose of rendering certain environmental consultancy services for the Group’s 

customers.

The Group recorded costs of sales of approximately HK$9.6 million for the Year, representing a year-on-year decrease 

of approximately 61.2% as compared to that of approximately HK$24.8 million for FY2023. The decrease was mainly 

attributable to the reduction in business scale.
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The Group’s gross profit recorded a year-on-year decrease of approximately 15.0% from approximately HK$11.6 

million for FY2023 to HK$9.9 million for the Year. The decrease in the gross profit of the Group was mainly 

attributable to the reduction in business scale of the Group, but the labour costs of the business sector have not 

responded to the reduction.

The gross margin (expressed as a percentage of gross profit over revenue) of the Group increased from approximately 

31.9% for FY2023 to approximately 50.7% for the Year. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in 

the Group’s revenue; and (ii) the significant decrease in costs of sales.

Administrative Expenses

The Group recorded a year-on-year decrease of approximately 15.5% from HK$30.8 million for FY2023 to HK$26.0 

million for the Year in respect of its administrative expenses. The decrease in the Group’s administrative expenses was 

mainly attributable to (i) the scale-down of the Group’s environmental consultancy services business, and (ii) the lease 

contracts for offices in some areas have expired.

Allowance for Expected Credit Losses, net

The Group recognised net allowance for expected credit loss (“ECL”) in the amount of approximately HK$9.3 million 

for the Year, representing the impairment losses recognised to the Group’s profit or loss for the Year in respect of its 

trade and bill receivables, other receivables and deposits, deposit for film production and deposit for purchase of film 

rights. The Group recognised the ECL in accordance with the ECL model set out in the section headed “Financial risk 

management objectives and policies – Credit risk” under note 6 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 

(the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) in this annual report, and in compliance with the relevant requirements 

under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) 9 Financial Instruments , details of which have been set 

out in the section headed “Financial instruments – Financial assets – Impairment of financial assets“ under note 4 to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 

credit risk since initial recognition.

The net allowances for ECL of the Group for the Year comprised of those in the amount of approximately 

HK$7.1 million, and HK$2.2 million for the Group’s trade and bills receivables and other receivables and deposits, 

respectively, accounting for approximately 76.2% and 23.8% of the Group’s total net allowances for ECL for the 

Year.
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The majority of the Group’s net allowances for ECL for the Year arose from those of the trade receivables in relation 

to the Environmental Consultancy Services Business.

The Group applied the general approach, which is often referred to as the “three-stage model”, under HKFRS 9, 

in which the ECL of loan and other receivables are determined based on (i) the changes in credit quality of the 

receivables since initial recognition; and (ii) the estimated expectation of an economic loss of the receivables under 

consideration.

Under the general approach, there are two measurement bases for allowance of ECL: (i) 12-month ECL, which are 

the ECL that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date and are calculated 

as the allowance for ECL on the receivables weighted by the probability of default accumulated over the 12 months 

after the reporting date; and (ii) lifetime ECL, which are the ECL that result from all possible default events over 

the expected life of the receivables and are calculated as the allowance for ECL on the receivables weighted by 

the probability of default accumulated over the entire life of the receivables. Assessment is conducted based on 

the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 

conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 

conditions.

The Group measured the loss allowance of the receivables based on 12-month ECL, unless when there had been 

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognised lifetime ECL. The assessment of 

whether lifetime ECL should be recognised was based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default 

occurring since initial recognition. Further details are set out in the note 4 and 6.

Finance Costs

The Group recognised finance costs of approximately HK$66.9 million for the Year, representing a year-on-year 

increase of approximately 35.5% from approximately HK$49.3 million for FY2023. The increase in the finance costs 

of the Group was mainly due to provision of default interests in relation to borrowings.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded loss for the year of approximately HK$91.2 million for the Year, when compared to that 

of HK$332.9 million for FY2023. The improvement of the year-on-year loss position of the Group was mainly 

attributable to the combined effect of (i) the decrease in the revenue of the Group as mentioned above, (ii) the 

decrease in the costs of sales of the Group, (iii) the decrease in the administrative expenses incurred by the Group 

due to the cost-saving measures implemented by the Group in light of the difficult business environment, and (iv) 

significant reduction in provisions for expected credit losses.

Prospects

Although many countries around the world, including China, have announced multiple policies to stimulate the 

economy, the overall economic situation is still unfavorable optimistic, combined with the unstable situation in 

multiple regions of the world, it further exacerbates the uncertainty of economic recovery. The Group will prudently 

evaluate the prospects of various industries and operate steadily while maintaining its existing business operations. 
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On the one hand, we will strive to recover the Company’s accounts receivable, and on the other hand, we will 

vigorously explore new business growth points, strive to make a significant improvement in the Company’s operating 

conditions within the next fiscal year.

In terms of its environmental consultancy services, in light of the increasing public awareness and policy support 

on environmental protection initiatives as well as enhanced compliance obligations imposed by the strengthened 

regulatory framework, the Group expects that the demand for its environmental consultancy services will continue 

to grow. In this regard, the Group will continue to enhance its effort in developing its service offerings as well as 

expanding its customer base so as to cover more industry needs.

In relation to the business of the sales of healthcare products, the Group will launch new products in this year, 

whilst increasing its product profile such as Nattokinase food supplements from Japan. The Group believes that the 

expanded product mix will further attract the domestic demand for healthcare products, particularly for the younger 

generations in the PRC. To this end, the Group will maintain close observation of the market trend and response, and 

will actively explore new products and enhance its strategic positioning in the market in a timely manner.

In the coming year, the Group will mainly seek to expand businesses with stable revenue based on the unstable 

global political and economic situation and strive to enhance the revenue drivers of the Group in order to improve 

the overall financial performance of the Group and bring values to the shareholders of the Company.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (FY2023: nil).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally derives cash for operation from internal cash flow and from borrowings in the PRC. As at 31 

March 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$689.4 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 

HK$713.3 million), including trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments of approximately HK$645.6 

million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$680.1 million) and bank balances and cash of approximately 

HK$13.0 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$8.9 million). As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s borrowings 

amounted to approximately HK$584.6 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$605.4 million).

The Group’s current assets and current liabilities as at 31 March 2024 were approximately HK$659.3 million (as at 31 

March 2023: HK$691.4 million) and approximately HK$1,096.2 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$1,049.6 million), 

respectively. The Group’s non-current assets and non-current liabilities as at 31 March 2024 were approximately 

HK$30.1 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$21.9 million) and nil (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$0.7 

million), respectively.
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The year-on-year decrease of approximately 4.6% in the Group’s current assets was mainly attributable to the 

decrease in the Group’s trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments from approximately HK$680.1 

million as at 31 March 2023 to HK$645.6 million as at 31 March 2024 as a result of the recognition of allowance 

for ECL during the Year based on impairment assessment on the trade receivables in relation to Environmental 

Consultancy Services Business.

The Group’s current liabilities remained relatively stable during the Year, being the combined effect of (i) the year-on-

year increase of approximately 17.5% in the Group’s trade and other payables from that of approximately HK$402.4 

million as at 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$473.0 million as at 31 March 2024, mainly due to the increase in 

interest accrual thereto; and (ii) the year-on-year decrease of approximately 3.4% in the Group’s borrowings from 

approximately HK$605.4 million as at 31 March 2023 to HK$584.6 million as at 31 March 2024, mainly as a result of 

the exchange alignment between RMB and Hong Kong dollars, further details of which are set out in note 32 of the 

notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group’s non-current assets recorded an increase of approximately 37.8% from that of approximately 

HK$21.9 million as at 31 March 2023 to that of approximately HK$30.1 million as at 31 March 2024. This is 

mainly attributable to the relatively substantial increase in the Group’s financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income from that of HK$16.3 million as at 31 March 2023 to that of HK$28.2 million as at 31 March 

2024 (representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 72.7%) after the deemed disposal of Shanxi Dadi 

Holdings Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd（山西大地控股股權投資基金管理有限公司）in FY2022, 

details of which are set out in note 34 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

References are made to the paragraphs headed “Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements — Going 

concern” under note 4 and note 32 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, whereby the Group had 

fallen behind the interest payments of certain borrowings of the Group. The Group is in the course of taking the 

appropriate steps (including launching legal proceedings against the debtors of the Group to enforce for payments 

of outstanding receivables) to secure further funding for repayment, and has been in active negotiations and is 

concluding with some lenders on the renewal and/or settlement of such borrowings.

The management of the Group has all along been striving to obtain sufficient financial resources to maintain and 

improve the working capital and liquidity of the Group. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Basis of preparation 

of consolidated financial statements — Going concern” under note 4 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements for details. The Directors have urged the management of the Company, and shall lead the initiatives to 

procure sufficient financial resources to be in place to address the going-concern issue of the Group.
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Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total liabilities over total assets, of the Group was approximately 

159.0% (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 147.2%). The increase in the gearing ratio of the Group was mainly 

attributable to the significant decrease in the Group’s current assets as a result of (i) the decrease in the trade, bills 

and other receivables, deposits and prepayments of the Group following the recognition of allowance for ECL during 

the Year in respect of the trade receivables from the debtors of the Environmental Consultancy Services Business; and 

(ii) the increase in trade and other payables.

Treasury Policies

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern 

so that the Group can constantly provide returns for the Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders by 

implementing proper product pricing and securing access to financing at reasonable costs. The Group actively 

and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments by taking into consideration the 

changes in economic conditions, its future capital requirements, prevailing and projected profitability and operating 

cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The Group also closely 

monitors its gearing ratio as mentioned above.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group’s businesses are mainly conducted in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Currently, 

the Group has not employed any foreign currency derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange 

risk. However, the Group’s management monitors closely the exposures and will consider hedging the exposures 

should the need arise.

Interest Rate Exposure

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank and other borrowings and bank balances. Borrowings at 

variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Currently, the Group does not employed any financial 

instruments to hedge against interest rate risk.

Capital Structure

The Board monitors the Group’s capital structure by reviewing its cash flow requirements and considering its future 

financial obligations and commitments. There had been no change in the Company’s capital structure during the 

Year. As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was approximately HK$36.4 million (the same as at 

31 March 2023), and the number of ordinary shares issued by the Company was 3,640,627,457 (the same as at 31 

March 2023).

Commitments

The Group did not have any material capital commitment as at 31 March 2024 (as at 31 March 2023: nil).
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Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any charge on its assets (as at 31 March 2023: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed in notes 32 and 42 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 

the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2023: nil).

Significant Investments

Save for the investment in its subsidiaries by the Company, the Group did not have any significant investments 

during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the 

Year.

Non-fulfillment of Profit Guarantee in Relation to the Acquisition of Jinxin 
Keyuan

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2020, 19 January 2021 and 9 

February 2021 (collectively the “Acquisition Announcements”) pursuant to which the Group entered into the 

Acquisition Agreement with the Vendors in relation to the acquisition of 60% of the equity interest in Jinxin Keyuan 

at an initial consideration of RMB27 million (the “Initial Consideration”) by way of allotment and issuance of an 

aggregate of 75,681,511 shares of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”) to the Vendors.

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendors jointly and severally guarantee and undertake to the Company 

and Dadi Senrong that (i) the revenue from the principal business of Jinxin Keyuan will grow year by year; and (ii) the 

audited net profit after deducting all extraordinary items of Jinxin Keyuan will be not less than the amounts set out 

below for the relevant years:

Relevant year Guaranteed Profit

the year ending 31 December 2021 RMB5,500,000

the year ending 31 December 2022 RMB6,050,000

the year ending 31 December 2023 RMB6,655,000

If Jinxin Keyuan does not meet the above performance targets, the consideration for the said acquisition shall be 

adjusted in the manner set out in the Acquisition Agreement, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase part 

or all the consideration shares issued to the Vendors. Please refer to the Acquisition Announcements for further 

details.
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Based on the information available to the Group, despite the guaranteed profit for the year ended 31 December 

2021 had been met, Jinxin Keyuan failed to meet the guaranteed profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 

2023.

Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, whereas the audited net profit after deducting all extraordinary 

items of Jinxin Keyuan for each of the three years ending 31 December 2023 is less than RMB5 million, the Initial 

Consideration shall be adjusted by way of the Company being entitled to repurchase 100% of the Consideration 

Shares from the Vendors at nil consideration. For such purpose, the Company may (i) repurchase and cancel 

the Consideration Shares after the guaranteed period (namely, the three years ending 31 December 2023) (the 

“Guaranteed Period”) but no later than 31 December 2024; and (ii) require the Vendors to return all distribution 

and dividends declared and paid by the Company before such repurchase (collectively the “Redemption Rights”). The 

Company would carry out the share repurchase after obtaining all regulatory approval(s).

Whereas in accordance with the Acquisition Agreement, the guaranteed profit shall take into account of the audited 

net profit after deducting all extraordinary items of Jinxin Keyuan for each of the three years ending 31 December 

2023, and such period had yet to have expired as at the date of this report, the Company had yet to have exercised 

the Redemption Rights. To the best knowledge of the Company, there has not been any indication on the inability 

or unwillingness of the Vendors to full their obligations in relation to the profit guarantee. Meanwhile, the Company 

intends to exercise the Redemption Rights upon expiry of the Guaranteed Period in accordance with the terms of 

the Acquisition Agreement, and is in the course of seeking legal advice on the same. Accordingly, the Company 

considers that the above arrangement is fair and reasonable and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company 

as a whole.

Further announcements will be made by the Company to provide updates on the progress in respect thereof as and 

when appropriate in compliance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Future Plan for Material Investments and Acquisitions of Capital Assets

The Company had not approved any plan for material investments or acquisitions of capital assets during the Year.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

Business risk Business risk is the risk of rapid changes 

in customers’ preference and price driven 

competition could impact the Group’s 

performance.

• Review market trends and maintain 

a competitive position by recruiting 

and retaining quality staff to provide 

flexible solutions to the customers.

Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any downturn 

in economic conditions could impact the 

Group’s performance.

• Review forward looking indicators to 

identify economic conditions.

Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group 

would not be able to meet its financial 

obligations as they fall due.

• Monitor liquidity and balance sheet.

• Maintain appropriate l iquidity to 

cover commitments.

Exchange risk Exchange risk is the risk that changes 

in foreign exchange rates would affect 

the Group’s income and the value of its 

holdings of assets.

• Closely monitor statement of financial 

position and cashflow exchange risk 

exposures and consider appropriate 

use of financial instruments, such as 

forward exchange contracts, foreign 

currency options and forward rate 

agreements, to hedge the exchange 

risk.

People risk People risk is the risk of loss the services 

of any Directors, senior management 

and other key personnel could have a 

material adverse effect on the Group’s 

businesses.

• Prov ide compet i t ive reward and 

benefit packages to attract and retain 

the employees the Group need.

• Ensure that the staff of the Group 

has the right working environment to 

enable them to do the best job and 

maximise their satisfaction at work.

Legal and  

regulatory risk

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk 

that a breach of laws and regulations 

could lead to litigation, investigations 

or disputes, resulting in additional costs 

on civil and/or criminal proceedings and 

reputational damage being incurred.

• Monitor changes and developments 

in the regulatory environment and 

ensure that sufficient resources being 

made available to implement for any 

compulsory changes.

• Seek legal or other specialist advice 

as appropriate.
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Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally responsible manner. Recycling and use of eco-friendly 

stationery, plus a series of measures to save paper and energy, resulted in more efficient use of resources, as well as 

reduction of waste.

Compliance with Environmental Regulations

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, the Directors are of the opinion that no specific laws and regulations 

related to environmental protection obligations on the part of the Group has significant impact on its business 

operations.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as 

follows:

Sales

– the largest customer 7%

– five largest customers combined 24%

Purchases

– the largest supplier 11%

– the five largest suppliers combined 40%

At no time during the Year did the Directors and their associates or a shareholder of the Company (which to the 

knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major 

customers or suppliers referred to above.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendations from the 

remuneration committee of the Board, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and 

comparable market statistics.

Employees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed around 72 employees (as at 31 March 2023: around 73 employees). The 

remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are maintained at market level and are reviewed annually 

by the management. Their remuneration, promotion and salary review are assessed based on job responsibilities, 

work performance, professional experiences and the prevailing industry practices. The employees in Hong Kong and 

the PRC have been enrolled to the appropriate mandatory provident fund schemes and retirement benefits schemes.

The Group regards its employees as the most important asset and resource and provides regular training courses 

and a variety of development programs and has developed relevant training policies and procedures to enhance the 

effectiveness of such training programs. Trainings provided to the employees cover topics including but not limited to 

industry updates, compliance matters and occupational health and safety, etc.
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Executive Director

Mr. Wu Xiaoming (“Mr. Wu”), aged 62, is the interim chairman of the Board, the executive vice chairman and the 

chief executive officer of the Company and is experienced in financing and practice in business management, team 

building, corporate strategy development and implementation in large corporations, he also has in-depth knowledge 

and operational experience in investments and development of large-scale projects. Mr. Wu holds a master degree 

in economics and management from the Party School of Shaanxi Provincial Committee of CPC (中共陝西省委黨校 ), 

and is also a senior economist and engineer. Mr. Wu has been appointed as the chief executive officer, an executive 

Director, the executive vice chairman and the interim chairman of the Board, with effect from 28 April 2016, 30 

September 2016, 3 April 2018 and 28 June 2023, respectively. He is also a member of remuneration committee 

and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is also a director of each of the following 

subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Dadi International Culture Media Holdings Limited, Dadi Great Wall Financial 

Holdings Limited and Dadi International Environmental Investment Limited.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ju Mengjun (“Mr. Ju”), aged 68, has extensive journalistic (including interviewing, editing and reviewing of 

news), international research and management experience. During his more than 30 years of employment with 

Xinhua News Agency, Mr. Ju has served various positions (including principal journalist, assistant to editor-in-chief, 

deputy chief editor and officer of the editor-in-chief office, etc.) in different departments and branches of Xinhua 

News Agency (including the international department and its Eurasia office, the Moscow Branch, the Alma Ata 

Branch and the editor-in-chief office of the headquarters). He also served as the president of Asia Pacific Branch and 

Hong Kong Branch of Xinhua News Agency. Mr. Ju served as an executive director of Xinhua News Media Holdings 

Limited (stock code: 309) from May 2011 to January 2018 and served as a co-chairman from June 2011 to January 

2018. Mr. Ju graduated from the Department of Russian Language and Literature of Beijing University, has studied 

at Pushkin State Russian Language Institute, Moscow and has been a post-graduate. Mr. Ju has been appointed as a 

non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 22 December 2020.

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 56, has extensive experience in the investment banking industry 

specialising in the area of corporate finance. Mr. Zhang was a non-executive director of Fire Rock Holdings Limited, 

whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1909) from January 2016 to October 

2018. He was a non-executive director of Pa Shun International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are 

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 574) from July 2016 to March 2023; and he was an 

executive director and chairman of the board of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Interactive 

Entertainment China Cultural Technology Investments Limited) (stock code: 8081) shares are listed on GEM of the 

Stock Exchange from December 2013 to December 2018. Mr. Zhang has been appointed as a non-executive Director 

since 3 April 2018. He is also a member of the audit committee of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhang Wei (“Dr. Zhang”), aged 70, had taught Development Economics and Chinese Economy at the University 

of Cambridge in the UK since 2000 and is also the founding director of Economic Research Centre for Greater China 

in Cambridge. Dr. Zhang joined Mingly Corporation since 2011 and has served as senior economist, an executive 

director and chief executive officer. Dr. Zhang served as a non-executive director of Hanison Construction Holdings 

Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange, stock code: 896) from June 2019 to August 

2021. Dr. Zhang has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also 

the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination 

committee of the Company.
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Mr. Law Yui Lun (“Mr. Law”), aged 62, is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

of the United Kingdom. Mr. Law has extensive professional experience in the fields of auditing, accounting, corporate 

taxation, company liquidation and insolvency, financial advisory and management for over 30 years. Mr. Law served 

as an independent non-executive director of CBK Holdings Limited (stock code: 8428), which is listed on GEM of 

the Stock Exchange, from January 2017 to July 2021; an independent non-executive director of Shougang Concord 

Century Holdings Limited (stock code: 0103), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 

2005 to January 2020; and an independent non-executive director of China Trustful Group Limited (stock code: 

8265), which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 17 July 2020 to 30 September 2020. Mr. Law has been 

appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 1 November 2017. He is also the chairman of the audit 

committee of the Company and a member of each of the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the 

Company.

Dr. Jin Lizuo (“Dr. Jin”), aged 66, has been a supervisor of China International Capital Corporation Limited (a 

company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3908) since May 2015; participated in its establishment and 

was a member of its preparatory group from 1994 to 1995. Dr. Jin served as an independent non-executive director 

of Beijing Enterprises Environment Group Limited (formerly known as Beijing Development (Hong Kong) Limited) 

(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 154) since September 2004, and a director of NetBrain 

Technologies Inc. since August 2012. He served as the chairman of Beijing Integrity Financial Consulting Company（北

京中和應泰財務顧問有限公司）from 1997 to 2004; and was awarded the “Most Influential Independent Director”

（最具影響力獨立董事獎）at the 5th Session Golden Round Table Award campaign for the Board of Directors of 

Listed Companies in China in 2009. Dr. Jin obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Peking University in the 

PRC in January 1982 and a doctoral degree in economics from Oxford University in the United Kingdom in November 

1993; he also served as the founding president of the Chinese Economic Association (UK) from 1988 to 1989 and 

the chief councilor of the Shanghai Institute of Law & Economics（上海法律與經濟研究所理事長）. Dr. Jin has been 

appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 11 February 2020. He is also a member of each of the 

nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit committee of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, since the date of the 2023 interim report of the Company and up to the date of this annual 

report, there were no other changes in the information of the Directors which shall be disclosed pursuant to Rule 

17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

Senior Management

Mr. Wu Xiaoming, aged 62, is the executive Director, the interim chairman of the Board, the executive vice 

chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for the overall management and 

operation, liaison with major customers and business development of the Group. His biographies are set out in the 

section headed “Profile of Directors – Executive Director” in this annual report.
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Mr. Bai Mingjun, aged 40, joined the Group in May 2016 and served as the deputy director of the Chairman’s 

office (currently known as the head of Hong Kong headquarter). Mr. Bai has been appointed as a joint company 

secretary of the Company with effect from 1 April 2022. During his tenure of office with the Group, Mr. Bai has led 

the Group’s Hong Kong headquarter operations and assisted the Board and the management teams in the discharge 

of their daily responsibilities including but not limited to coordinating the communications within members of the 

Board, participating in the implementation of various corporate and transactional matters of the Group, as well as 

attending to the general administrative and regulatory compliance functions of the Group.

Mr. Bai has also been serving as (i) a director of Dadi International Culture Media Holdings Limited（大地國際文

化傳媒控股有限公司）, Dadi International Environmental Investment Limited（大地國際環境投資有限公司）and 

Dadi Great Wall Financial Holdings Limited（大地長城金融控股有限公司）, respectively, all being wholly-owned 

subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in Hong Kong, since May 2018; (ii) a director of Shenzhen City Jia Ying 

Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.（深圳市嘉盈融資租賃有限公司）, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established 

in the PRC, since November 2018; (iii) a director and the vice-president of Dadi Nandou Culture Media (Beijing) Co., 

Ltd.（大地南斗文化傳媒（北京）有限公司）, a subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC, since April 2019; 

and (iv) a director of Dadi Senlai (Shanghai) Culture Technology Co., Ltd.（大地森萊（上海）文化科技有限公司）, 

Dadi Senrong (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd.（大地森榮（上海）投資管理有限公司）, Dadi Senbao 

(Shanghai) Asset Management Co., Ltd.（大地森葆（上海）資產管理有限公司）, Dadi Senlin (Shanghai) Enterprise 

Management Co., Ltd.（大地森林（上海）企業管理有限公司）, and Dadi Senrong Environment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.（大

地森榮環境（北京）有限公司）, respectively, all being wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company established in the 

PRC, since April 2021.

Mr. Bai graduated from Xidian University（西安電子科技大學）with a bachelor’s degree of electrical and engineering 

automation in 2007 and received a master’s degree of purchasing and supply chain management from Robert 

Gordan University in the United Kingdom in 2010. Mr. Bai was qualified as an Intermediate Economist of the PRC（中

華人民共和國中級經濟師）in 2014. In May 2016, Mr. Bai passed the examinations on Fund Laws and Regulations, 

Professional Ethics and Business Rules（基金法律法規、職業道德與業務規範）and Basic Knowledge on Securities 

Investment Funds（證券投資基金基礎知識）organised by the Asset Management Association of China（中國證券投

資基金業協會）.
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Introduction

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing good corporate governance practices 

and procedures. The maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always 

been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is 

essential for effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to 

the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practices

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, 

transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the Group 

believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and 

the public. Save as disclosed in this corporate governance report, throughout the Year, the Group has complied with 

all applicable code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) 

as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has, since the amendments to the GEM Listing Rules 

regarding corporate governance practices were first proposed by the Stock Exchange, continued to monitor and 

review the Group’s progress in respect of corporate governance practices to ensure compliance. Meetings were held 

throughout the Year and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior 

management of the Group to ensure awareness to issues regarding corporate governance practices.

Cultures and Values

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster 

a corporate culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business 

strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and corporate governance across all of 

the Group’s activities and operations. The Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, 

ethically and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the training materials 

for all new staff and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including therein 

the Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings 

are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce development, workplace safety and health, 

diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional engagement 

with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive workforce that attracts, develops, and 

retains the best talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s strategy in the 

business development and management is to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while having 

due considerations from environment, social and governance aspects.
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The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic 

decisions and performances and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing 

and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility for decision making in all major matters of the 

Company including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets 

and overall strategies, material transaction, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational 

matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the senior 

executives. These responsibilities include the implementation of decisions of the Board, the co-ordination and 

direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company in accordance with the management strategies 

and plans approved by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions 

entered into by these senior executives and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its responsibilities. To 

oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board committees, namely the 

audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee (the “Committees”). The Board has 

delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

Composition

At 31 March 2024, the Board comprised six Directors, including one executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Xiaoming, 

two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ju Mengjun and Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng, and three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo. During the Year, Mr. Qu Zhongrang and Mr. 

Fu Yuanhong resigned as executive Directors on 28 June 2023. Save as disclosed above, there is no change to the 

composition of the Board subsequent to the end of the Year and up to the date of this report. Biographical details of 

the current Directors are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors” in this annual report.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise and have exhibited high standards of personal 

and professional ethics and integrity. The Directors have devoted sufficient time and attention to the Company’s 

affairs. The Board believes that the ratio of executive to non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to 

provide checks and balances that safeguard the interest of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of new Directors and Directors nomination for re-election 

by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company. Under the Company’s bye-laws, the Board may from 

time to time appoint a Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by 

the Board shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible 

for re-election.
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The Board believes that the balance between the executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors is 

reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the shareholders 

of the Company and the Group. In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent non-

executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed to 

assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-

executive Directors including the following:

– required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill their roles;

– time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

– firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

– declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-executive Directors; and

– no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any relationship or circumstances which 

would affect the exercise of their independent judgement.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

On 28 June 2023, Mr. Fu Yuanhong (“Mr. Fu”) resigned as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board (the 

“Chairman”). Following the cessation of Mr. Fu as the Chairman, Mr. Wu Xiaoming (“Mr. Wu”), the executive vice 

chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive Director, has been appointed 

as the interim Chairman with effect from 28 June 2023 to temporarily take over the duties of the Chairman. Such 

practice deviates from code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code provides that the roles and responsibilities of 

chairman and chief executive officer should be separated. The reason for such deviation is to allow Mr. Wu, who is 

already the executive chairman of the Board to take over the duties of the Chairman in the interim period whilst the 

Management of the Group and the nomination committee of the Board are looking for the appropriate candidate to 

be the Chairman.
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Deviation from compliance with code provision C.1.4 and C.2 of the CG Code

In January 2023, the Company has come to the knowledge that, Mr. Qu Zhongrang (“Mr. Qu”) and Mr. Fu, the 

executive Directors, are alleged to have seriously violated discipline and law and were under disciplinary review and 

supervision investigation by the Shanxi Provincial Commission for Discipline Inspection and Supervision Commission. 

Pursuant to C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional development to 

develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During to the reasons discussed above, Mr. Qu and Mr. Fu could 

not participate in continuous professional development during the Year in accordance with code provision C.1.4. 

Furthermore, Mr. Fu, as the Chairman, was not able to perform the responsibilities of the Chairman under code 

provisions C.2 of the CG Code since January 2023. The Company has adopted the following alternative actions and 

steps during the Year to redress the deficiencies in the relevant code provisions:

Code Provision Alternative actions and steps taken during the Year

C.2.1 The roles of chairman and chief executive 

should be separate and should not be performed by 

the same individual. The division of responsibilities 

between the chairman and chief executive should 

be clearly established and set out in writing.

The responsibilities of Chairman, including presiding over 

the daily business meetings and meetings of the Board and 

implementing the formulated business strategies, etc, were 

shared and undertaken by Mr. Wu, the executive Director, 

executive vice chairman of the Board, chief executive 

officer and interim Chairman of the Company; Mr. Bai, 

the head of Hong Kong headquarter and a joint company 

secretary of the Company; and Mr. Mi, the vice president 

and the director of the investment asset development 

center of the Company.

C.2.2 The chairman should ensure that all directors 

are properly briefed on issues arising at board 

meetings.

Mr. Wu, the executive Director, executive vice chairman, 

chief executive officer and interim Chairman of the 

Company, together with Mr. Bai, the head of Hong 

Kong headquarter and a joint company secretary, and 

their respective teams, ensure that the Board operates 

effectively and discharges its due responsibilities, and 

promptly discusses all important and appropriate matters 

and establishes good corporate governance practices and 

procedures. Mr. Bai prepares the agenda of the Board 

according to the annual schedule of the Board meetings 

as well as ad hoc Board meetings from time to time, and 

communicates with all directors on the key operational 

and financial matters of the Group in a timely manner, 

including but not limited to daily announcement disclosure, 

annual budget review, annual corporate management 

report, audit matters and risk and internal control audit, 

etc.
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Code Provision Alternative actions and steps taken during the Year

C.2.3 The chairman should be responsible for 

ensuring that directors receive, in a timely manner, 

adequate information, which must be accurate, 

clear, complete and reliable.

Refer to C.2.2 above.

C.2.4 One of the important roles of the chairman is 

to provide leadership for the board. The chairman 

should ensure that the board works effectively 

and performs its responsibilities, and that all key 

and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a 

timely manner. The chairman should be primarily 

responsible for drawing up and approving the 

agenda for each board meeting. The chairman 

should take into account, where appropriate, 

any matters proposed by the other directors for 

inclusion in the agenda. The chairman may delegate 

this responsibility to a designated director or the 

company secretary.

Refer to C.2.2 above.

C .2 .5  T h e  c h a i r m a n  s h o u l d  t a k e  p r i m a r y 

responsibility for ensuring that good corporate 

g o v e r n a n c e  p r a c t i c e s  a n d  p ro c e d u re s  a re 

established.

Refer to C.2.2 above.

C.2.6 The chairman should encourage all directors 

to make a full and active contribution to the board’s 

affairs and take the lead to ensure that it acts in 

the best interests of the issuer. The chairman should 

encourage directors with different views to voice 

their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion 

of issues and ensure that board decisions fairly 

reflect board consensus.

Refer to C.2.2 above.
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Code Provision Alternative actions and steps taken during the Year

C.2.7 The chairman should at least annually hold 

meetings with the independent non-executive 

directors without the presence of other directors.

Mr. Bai, the head of Hong Kong headquarter and a joint 

company secretary, and his team had been acting as a 

communication channel between Mr. Wu, the executive 

Director, executive vice chairman of the Board, chief 

executive officer and interim Chairman of the Company, 

and the independent non-executive Directors, including 

but not limited to the latest development of the Group’s 

business, risk management and internal control system 

review and corporate governance system updates.

C.2.8 The chairman should ensure that appropriate 

steps are taken to provide effective communication 

wi th shareholders and that the i r  v iews are 

communicated to the board as a whole.

There have been no changes to the existing Shareholders’ 

Communication Policy of the Group. Mr. Wu, the executive 

Director, executive vice chairman of the Board, chief 

executive officer and interim Chairman of the Company, 

together with Mr. Bai, the head of Hong Kong headquarter 

and a joint company secretary, and their respective teams, 

have considered that such Shareholders’ Communication 

Policy remains effective given that there is no barrier for 

the shareholders to communicate their views to the Board 

as a whole.

C.2.9 The chairman should promote a culture of 

openness and debate by facilitating the effective 

contribution of non-executive directors in particular 

and ensur ing construct ive re lat ions between 

executive and non-executive directors.

Refer to C.2.2 above.

Independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors as at the end of the Year and as at the date of this 

report, which is in compliance with the requirement under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules which 

require that (i) the Board shall comprise at least three independent non-executive directors; (ii) the number of 

independent non-executive directors must represent at least one-third of the Board; and (iii) one of whom shall 

have appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related financial management expertise. The three 

independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo, have made written 

confirmations to the Company in respect of their independence for the Year. Based on such confirmation and to 

be best knowledge of the Board, the Company considers these current independent non-executive Directors are 

independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.



Corporate Governance Report
 

34 Dadi International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

Independent input mechanism

Board and committees’ structure • As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised of 6 members 

which includes 3 independent non-executive Directors. It complies with 

the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules that independent non-executive 

directors should account for one-third of the number of directors and not 

less than three.

Independent non-executive  

Directors’ tenure

• In accordance with the requirements of the bye-laws of the Company, 

the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is subject to 

rotation and re-election at least once every three years.

Independent non-executive  

Directors’ remuneration

• Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role 

as members of the Board and Board Committee(s) as appropriate. The 

Company has not currently established an incentive scheme related to its 

shares.

Appointment of independent  

non-executive Directors

• Independent search firm(s) can be engaged by the nomination committee of 

the Board as needed to help identify potential candidates for appointment 

of independent non-executive Director.

• In assessing suitability of the candidates, the nomination committee of 

the Board will review their profiles, including their qualification and time 

commitment, having regard to the Board’s composition, the Directors’ skills 

and experience, the list of selection criteria approved by the Board and the 

Board diversity policy and objectives.

Annual review of independent  

non-executive Directors’  

commitment and independence

• The nomination committee of the Board reviews annually each Director’s 

time commitment to the Group’s business. Directors’ attendance records 

during the Year are disclosed in the section head “Board Meetings and 

Shareholders’ Meetings” contained in this Corporate Governance Report.

• Independent non-executive Directors’ independence is assessed upon 

appointment, annually, and as the circumstances require.

Management of the conflict  

of interests

• The internal system of the Group contains provisions for the avoidance of 

conflicts of interest and provides guidance on the actions to be taken by 

Directors in relation to conflicts of interest.

Professional advice • Directors may consult the joint company secretaries of the Company on 

matters relating to the performance of their duties, as well as external 

professional advisers and legal advisers at the Company’s expense.

Evaluation of the performance  

of the Board

• The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed 

during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.
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Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years from their respective date of 

appointment, subject to retirement by rotation as stipulated in the bye-laws of the Company.

Board Meetings and Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of communication at least four times every 

year to determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, and 

other significant matters. At least fourteen days’ notice of regular Board meeting is given to all Directors, who are all 

given an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from regular meetings, senior 

management from time to time provides Directors information on activities and development of the businesses of the 

Group.

During the Year, four Board meetings were held. Details of the attendance of the Directors at general meeting, the 

meetings of the Board and its respective committees are as follows:

Name of Director

General 

Meeting 

Attended/Held

Board 

Meeting 

Attended/Held

Audit 

Committee 

Attended/Held

Remuneration 

Committee 

Attended/Held

Nomination 

Committee 

Attended/Held

Executive Directors

Mr. Qu Zhongrang (resigned on 28 June 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Fu Yuanhong, Chairman (resigned on 

28 June 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Wu Xiaoming 1/1 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ju Mengjun 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng 1/1 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhang Wei 1/1 4/4 3/3 1/1 2/2

Mr. Law Yui Lun 1/1 4/4 3/3 1/1 2/2

Dr. Jin Lizuo 1/1 4/4 3/3 1/1 2/2

Training and support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses of the Group. As 

such, the Group provides an induction to each newly appointed Director upon his/her appointment. Briefings and 

orientations are provided and organised to ensure that the Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their 

legal and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance practices of the Group. Such programmes 

are tailored to each individual Director taking into account their background and expertise. The Company will 

continuously update all Directors on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable 

regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
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Save for Mr. Qu and Mr. Fu who could not participate in continuous professional development training for reasons 

disclosed above, all Directors participated in continuous professional development programmes provided or procured 

by the Group during the Year, such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh 

their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. A record of the training received by the 

respective Directors are kept and updated by the Company.

Board Diversity

The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of the Company’s 

strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the 

consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 

ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into 

consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimal composition 

of the Board.

With reference to the policy above, the nomination committee of the Board has reviewed the composition of the 

Board in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules in terms of the following factors:

• Educational background and professional knowledge: The members of the Board come from different 

educational backgrounds including economics, management and foreign language and literature., etc. Some 

Directors have obtained master’s and doctoral degrees and other professional accreditation qualifications 

including senior economists, engineer and chartered certified accountants. The educational background and 

professional background of the members of the Board helps to guarantee the professionalism of the Group’s 

business; and

• Industry experience: The members of the Board has relatively sufficient industry experience in their 

respective fields, including experience in investment banking activities, Chinese economy research and analysis, 

media management and financial consultancy, which brings foresight to the Group’s business development 

and international vision.

The Board considers that its composition is in compliance with its diversity policy in terms of educational background, 

industry experience, region and duration of service, and reflects an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity 

that are relevant to the Group’s strategy, governance and business and contribute to the Board’s effectiveness and 

efficiency. Information about the Board’s current composition (including the skills and experience of Directors) is set 

out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” in this annual report.

Measureable objectives of the Board diversity policy include (i) at least one third of the Board shall be independent 

non-executive Directors; (ii) at least one Director is female and (iii) at least one Director shall have obtained 

accounting or other professional qualifications. For the Year, items (i) and (iii) have been fulfilled. The Board expects 

item (ii) will be fulfilled in the recent future by the end of 2024. Whereas the current Board and senior management 

of the Group comprise of all male members, viewing from the Group’s perspective, as at 31 March 2024, the Group 

had 73 employees in total comprising of 30 females and 43 males (that is, a female-to-male ratio of approximately 

4:6), reflecting a generally gender equality principle generally adhered by the Group with a relatively substantial 

presence and representation in the Group’s workforce. During the Year, the Group followed the principle of 
“openness, fairness, competition and merit-based selection” to recruit and train employees. As of the end of the 

Year, over 90% of the Group’s staff was full-time staff and over 60% of them aged between 31 to 50. This illustrates 

the Group’s dedication to recruit and retain junior staff and provide resources for them to pursue the career path in 

relation to senior positions within the Group and potentially, to the Board.
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The Board is mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination Committee” 

below for assessing the candidacy of the Board members, and will ensure that any successors to the Board shall 

follow the gender diversity policy. Similar considerations shall also be in place to assess the candidacy of the senior 

management team from time to time. The Group is determined to maintain gender diversity and equality in terms of 

the whole workforce, and to procure the senior management team to achieve gender equality in terms of the gender 

ratio within coming one year. The Company expects the above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting the 

gender diversity culture, which the Group has been advocating for so.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee was established with specific written terms of reference in accordance with the 

requirements of the CG Code. As at 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the remuneration 

committee consists of four members, of which one of them are executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Xiaoming, and 

three of them are independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo. 

The chairman of the remuneration committee is Dr. Zhang Wei.

The remuneration committee is responsible for formulating and recommending to the Board the remuneration policy, 

determining the remuneration of Directors and members of senior management of the Company, as well as reviewing 

and making recommendations on the Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other 

compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the chairman on its proposals and recommendations 

and has access to professional advice if deemed necessary. The remuneration committee is also provided with other 

resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The remuneration committee meets at least once a year.

During the Year, the remuneration committee held one meeting. During the relevant meeting, the remuneration 

committee reviewed performance of executive Directors, the remuneration policy and structure of the Company, the 

remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of reference in accordance with the 

requirements of the CG Code. As at 31 March 2024, the nomination committee consists of four members, of which 

one of them is an executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Xiaoming, and three of them are independent non-executive 

Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo. The chairman of the nomination committee was 

Mr. Fu Yuanhong, who resigned on 28 June 2023 and following the resignation of Mr. Fu, Mr. Wu Xiaoming, the 

interim chairman of the Board and an executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the nomination 

committee.

The duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board at least 

annually, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 

strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting individuals 

nominated for directorship, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making 

recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for 

Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
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The nomination committee meets at least once a year.

During the Year, the nomination committee held two meetings. During the relevant meetings, the nomination 

committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of the 

independent non-executive Directors and considered the re-election of Directors.

Board Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy for the nomination committee to identify individuals suitably qualified 

to become Board members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated 

for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and 

appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the nomination committee, has used its best efforts to ensure 

that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge in business, 

finance and management skills critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make sound and well 

considered decisions. Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

Nomination Procedure

The nomination committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has been created or is expected on a 

regular basis or as required. The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying Director candidates, 

including recommendations from Board members, management, and professional search firms. All Director 

candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated by shareholders are evaluated by the nomination 

committee based upon the director qualifications. While Director candidates will be evaluated on the same criteria 

through review of resume, personal interview and performance of background checks. The nomination committee 

retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition, 

skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than on the individual candidate for the purpose 

of diversity perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business.

Selection Criteria

The nomination committee will take into account whether a candidate has the qualifications, skills, experience and 

gender diversity that add to and complement the range of skills, experience and background of existing Directors 

by considering the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the Director candidates, proven 

achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, skills that 

are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability to assist and support management and make significant 

contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The Company shall review and reassess the nomination policy and its effectiveness on 

a regular basis or as required.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 

of the GEM Listing Rules. During the Year, and up to the date of this annual report, the audit committee consists of 

four members, of which one of them is a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng, and three of them 

are independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Dr. Jin Lizuo and Mr. Law Yui Lun. The chairman of 

the audit committee is Mr. Law Yui Lun.

The main duties of the audit committee include the followings:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the 

qualified accountant, compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditors, their 

fees and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment 

and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control system 

and risk management system and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The audit committee held three meetings during the Year, to review the financial results and reports, financial 

reporting and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk management review and 

processes as well as the re-appointment of the external auditors.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, 

resignation or dismissal of external auditors.

The Group’s annual results for the Year has been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.
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Summary of work performed by the Audit Committee

• To consider the final financial report for FY2023 and the financial budget of the Group for the Year to ensure 

the preparation of the final financial report and financial budget is scientific and reasonable;

• To consider the FY2023 financial statements, the representation letters and results announcement issued by 

the external auditor to ensure the truthfulness and completeness of the annual financial data of external 

disclosure;

• To consider and approve the re-appointment of the auditor for the Year and to determine the related audit 

fees;

• To consider the report on the Company’s related party transactions for FY2023 and to ensure the truthfulness 

of the disclosure;

• To consider the Company’s 2023 interim financial statements, statement and results announcement to ensure 

the truthfulness and integrity of the financial disclosure data;

• To consider the Company’s 2023 interim report to ensure the truthfulness and reasonableness of the 

information in the interim report;

• To consider and approve the resolution of the Company not distribute the FY2023 final dividend and interim 

dividend within the Year;

• To review the reasonableness of the annual audit plan of the auditor and approve the implementation of the 

audit plan; and

• To invite auditors to the meeting to discuss the FY2023 annual results and the 2023 quarterly and interim 

results.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the Year, the remuneration in respect of the audit services provided by the auditors of the Company, HLB 

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, amounted to approximately HK$990,000.

Joint Company Secretaries

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (“Mr. Au Yeung”) has been appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company 

and is responsible for advising the Board regarding corporate governance matters to ensure regulatory compliance 

and corporate governance functions of the Group to be carried out in an efficient and effective manner.
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Mr. Bai Mingjun (“Mr. Bai”), having served as a deputy director of the Chairman’s office (currently known as the 

head of Hong Kong headquarter) of the Company since May 2016, has been appointed as a joint company secretary 

of the Company with effect from 1 April 2022. Whilst Mr. Bai does not possess the requisite qualifications as a 

company secretary of a listed company on GEM of the Stock Exchange under Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules, 

the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange and has been granted waivers by the Stock Exchange from strict 

compliance with the requirements under Rules 5.14 and 11.07(2) of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of Mr. Bai’s 

appointment. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 1 April 2022 and 28 February 2023 for 

details as to Mr. Bai’s appointment as a joint company secretary of the Company and the grant of the aforesaid 

waivers by the Stock Exchange. Mr. Bai’s biographies are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors – Senior 

Management” in this annual report. Mr. Bai has been the primary contact of Mr. Au Yeung in the Company since 

their respective appointment as the joint company secretary of the Company.

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon currently serves as a joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. Au Yeung has 

over 20 years of experience in the areas of accounting and auditing. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants.

Each of Mr. Bai and Mr. Au Yeung has confirmed that he received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional 

training as required by according to the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules for the Year.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less 

exacting than the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model 

Code”). The Company was informed by Mr. Wu, an executive Director, executive vice chairman of the Board, chief 

executive officer and interim Chairman of the Company, that 400,000 shares of the Company held by Mr. Wu which 

were placed in securities trading accounts with margin facilities representing approximately 0.01% of the total issued 

share capital of the Company, were sold on the market as collateral pursuant to the terms and conditions applicable 

to such margin facilities on 29 April 2024, 30 April 2024, 2 May 2024 and 3 May 2024, respectively, (the “Disposal”) 

to settle the outstanding balances owing to the relevant securities firm.

Pursuant to the Model Code, the Directors were prohibited from dealing in any securities of the Company on any day 

on which its financial results are published and during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication 

date of the annual results (the “Black-out Period”). The Disposal fell within the Black-out Period and constituted a 

dealing of shares by Mr. Wu. Mr. Wu was however in a passive position in relation to the Disposal.

The Directors (except Mr. Wu) considered the Disposal and were satisfied that the Disposal during the Black-out 

Period was made under exceptional circumstances under Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save as disclosed 

above, the Company, having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, is not aware of any non-compliance with the 

required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors during the 

Year and up to the date of this annual report.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors have also requested any employee of the Company or 

director or employee of a subsidiary of the Company who, because of his/her office or employment in the Company 

or a subsidiary, is likely to possess inside information in relation to the securities of the Company, not to deal in the 

securities of the Company when he/she would be prohibited from dealing by the Model Code as if he/she were a 

Director.
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Directors’ Preparation Responsibilities on Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 

2024 and ensure these financial statements to give a true and fair view on the financial position of the Group.

Disclaimer of Opinion (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”)

The Company’s auditor, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group, details of which are set out in the independent auditor’s report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern basis

As described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately 

HK$104,776,000 during the year ended 31 March 2024 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded 

its current assets by approximately HK$452,280,000 and had net liabilities of HK$425,187,000. At 31 March 2024, 

the Group had defaulted in repayment of borrowings of approximately HK$584,634,000, whilst its cash and cash 

equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$12,987,000. The defaulted borrowings remained outstanding as at 

the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial statements.

The factors referred to above, along with other matters as described in note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have certain plans and measures as set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements in order to improve the liquidity and financial position of the Group. The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the outcomes of 

these plans and measures, which are inherently uncertain and subject to multiple uncertainties.

The Auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy itself about the 

appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements because of the lack of detailed analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and measures 

for future actions in its going concern assessment which take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans 

and measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future cash flows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write 

down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise 

and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The 

effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements and the Auditor was 

unable to determine whether such adjustments might have been found necessary.
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The Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Management have undertaken several plans and measures 

to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, to enable the Group to meet its financial obligations as and 

when they fall due for the foreseeable future including:

(i) Promptly enter into settlement arrangements with the lender Shanxi Environmental Group Co., Ltd. who owes 

the loan, including but not limited to offsetting the corresponding loan principal in accordance with the ruling 

results of the relevant cases sued by the lender; and agree on waiver of loan interest and default interest in 

respect of the corresponding loan principal.

(ii) attaining profitable and positive net cash inflows from operations by implementing the measures to tighten 

cost controls over production costs and expenses;

(iii) Initiate judicial proceedings through China’s competent courts, public security bureaus, procuratorates, etc. 

to collect accounts receivable and other receivables, in order to improve operating cash flow and financial 

conditions. Relevant information will be announced in a timely manner;

(iv) obtaining further financing from investors, lenders and shareholders, including but not limited to shareholder’s 

loans, equity financing and bank borrowings, to improve the liquidity of the Group; and

(v) dispose of non-core business and/or financial assets in order to raise fund for the working capital of the 

Group.

Despite the above arrangements, there are still uncertainties regarding whether the measures and plans of the 

Group can be successfully implemented. This may pose significant questions about the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may not be able to realize its assets and release its liabilities in the normal 

course of business. In this case, it may be necessary to adjust the carrying amount of the Group’s assets, report them 

at their realizable value, make provisions for any further liabilities that may arise, reclassify its non current assets and 

non current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively, and promptly announce.

The Company will continue to take proactive measures so to resolve its liquidity issue and will publish an appropriate 

announcement if there is any material development in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and the Inside 

Information Provisions (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 

(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Auditor has indicated to the Company that whether the multiple uncertainties relating to going concern can be 

adequately addressed depends on the implementation of the Company’s actions taken/proposed plans and measures 

to be taken as mentioned above to address the Disclaimer of Opinion.
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Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the management’s position concerning 

the Disclaimer of Opinion (the “Management’s Position”) and measures taken by the Group for addressing the 

Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the Management’s Position based on the reasons above. 

Moreover, the Audit Committee requested the management to take all necessary actions to address the uncertainties 

regarding going concern underlying the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such Disclaimer of Opinion will be made in 

the forthcoming audited financial statements. The Audit Committee had also discussed with the Auditor regarding 

the financial position of the Group, measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Auditor’s 

rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

The Auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Non-compliance with Rules 18.49(1) of the GEM Listing Rules

Pursuant to Rule 18.49(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company is required to publish its preliminary results in 

respect of financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the “2024 Annual Results”) no later than three months after the end 

of the financial year, i.e. 30 June 2024.

Due to the delay in publication of the 2024 Annual Results, the Board acknowledges that the delay in the publication 

of the 2024 Annual Results announcement constitutes non-compliance with Rules 18.49(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system and risk management of the Group and it 

has delegated to the executive management to carry out the risk identification and monitoring procedures. The 

objectives of the risk management are to enhance the governance and corporate management processes as well as 

to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board highly emphasized on internal control and adopted various initiatives to control and monitor the business 

of the Company and prevent potential risks. The Company has established internal audit function to conduct regular 

review on all the policies and procedures of material control, and report all material issues to the Board and audit 

committee at least once annually.

The Group adopted a three-line risk management approach to identify, analyze, assess, mitigate and handle risks. The 

first line of defence is that the Group’s employees must understand that their roles and responsibilities to identify, 

assess and monitor risks associated with transactions. The second line of defence is the Group’s management that 

provides independent oversight of the first line of defence. It ensures that risks are within the Group’s risk capacity 

and that the control of the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the audit committee of the 

Company, with the advices and opinions from the external professional party (such as the auditor) and annual review 

by the internal audit function, ensures that the first and second lines of defence are effective.

Taking into account the size and complexity of the operations of the Group, the Company considers that the existing 

organisation structure and the close supervision of the executive management have provided sufficient internal 

control and risk management for the Group.
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The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control system adopted by the Group annually. For the Year, 

the Board is of the view that the systems are effective and there are no irregularities, improprieties, fraud or other 

deficiencies that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The Board 

has received a confirmation from management on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 

systems.

To facilitate the management and standardization of internal operation, the Company has regulations in place 

that specify the responsibilities and scopes of anti-corruption works. Anti-corruption policy has been adopted 

and all employees of the Group have been required to strictly abide them. To encourage employees to report 

the improprieties they found or suspected, the Company has established appropriate protocols pursuant to its 

whistleblowing policy so as to provide a secure and fully confidential environment for employees to report the 

improprieties that they genuinely concerned.

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the GEM 

Listing Rules and the overriding principle that Inside Information should be announced immediately when it is the 

subject of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of Inside Information 

are as follows:

• the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing Rules 

as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures 

Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

• the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or Inside Information; and

• the Group regularly reminds its Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding the 

Inside Information, as well as keeps them appraised of the latest regulatory updates.

Dividend Policy

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other means that the Company considers appropriate. 

Any proposed distribution of dividends shall be determined by the Board and will be subject to shareholders’ 

approval. A decision to declare or to pay dividends, and the amount of dividends, will depend on a number of 

factors, including the Company’s operating results, cash flow, financial condition, payments by our subsidiaries of 

cash dividends to us, future prospects and other factors that the Directors may consider important.

Constitutional Documents

The Company has not made any changes to its constitutional documents during the Year.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely 

disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and 

transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in many aspects.

In endeavouring to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual general meeting provides a useful 

forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
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The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to time to ensure the Company conforms 
to the best practices regarding corporate governance. An annual general meeting shall be called by notice of not 
less than twenty-one clear days. All other general meetings (including a special general meeting) must be called by 
notice of not less than fourteen clear days. The general meeting circular which is circulated to all Shareholders with 
the notice of the general meeting, sets out the details in relation to each resolution proposed, voting procedures 
(including procedures for demanding and conducting a poll) and other relevant information. At the Company’s 2022 
annual general meeting, all the resolutions were put to the vote by poll and Tricor Secretaries Limited, the Company’s 
Hong Kong branch share registrar, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure the votes were properly counted. The rights 
of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meeting and procedures for 
shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are contained in the Company’s bye-laws.

Shareholders of the Company who hold not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the 
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the 
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for 
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after 
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, 
the requisitionists themselves may do so themselves.

The Company publishes its announcements, financial information and other relevant data on its website at 
http://www.dadi-international.com.hk, as a channel to enhance effective communication. Shareholders are welcomed 
to make enquiries to the Company by sending the enquiries to the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the 
Company, or via phone (852) 3611 1428, fax (852) 3612 4652 or email (ir@dadi-international.com.hk). The Company 
will respond to all enquiries in a timely and appropriate manner.

Information about the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company is set out on page 4 of this annual 
report.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor Relations

The Company recognises the importance of communications with the shareholders of the Company as well as 
potential investors. This shareholders communication policy is reviewed by the audit committee of the Board on an 
annual basis which aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring that the shareholders and potential 
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the 
Company, in order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders 
and potential investors to engage actively with the Company. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the 
shareholders communication policy of the Company is satisfactory in terms of its implementation and effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business 
imperatives. There include annual and extraordinary meeting, annual report, interim report, quarterly report, various 
notices, announcement and circulars. Through the Company’s website at http://www.dadi-international.com.hk, 
shareholders can obtain updated and key information on the major developments of the Group. Information, such as 
financial statements, results announcements, circulars, notices of general meetings and all announcements, released 
by the Company on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk is also posted on the Company’s website 
immediately thereafter.

Conclusion

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in maintaining investor confidence and 
attracting investment. The management will devote considerate effort to strengthen and improve the standards of 
the corporate governance of the Group.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the Year.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of operations

The principal activities of the Group for the Year included provision of environmental consultancy services and 

sales of healthcare products. Details of the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required 

by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the 

Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the section headed 

“Management Discussion and Analysis – Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in this annual report. The discussion forms 

part of this Directors’ report.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year by geographic segment is set out in note 10 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Results

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income in this annual report. They form part of this Directors’ report.

Financial summary

The summary of the financial results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set 

out in the section headed “Summary of Financial Information” in this annual report.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 18 of 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Share capital and share options

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the Year are set out in notes 34 

and 39 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively. The share option 

scheme adopted by the Company on 25 September 2012 (the “Share Option Scheme”) had expired on 25 September 

2022.

Reserves

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Year are set out in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 41 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this 

annual report.
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Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 

listed securities.

Convertible securities, options, warrants and similar rights

No convertible securities, options, warrants and similar rights were issued or granted by the Group during the Year.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws and there is no restriction against such 

rights under the law of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to 

existing shareholders.

Tax relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the 

shares of the Company.

Convertible bonds

There are no outstanding convertible bonds during the Year.

Distributable reserves

At 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of 

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) was nil.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year was nil (FY2023: nil).

Management Contract

No management contract was in force during the Year for the management and administration of the whole or any 

substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Events after the reporting period

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 

2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Sufficiency of public float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision 

being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated 

company (if made by the Company).

Directors

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Qu Zhongrang (resigned on 28 June 2023)

Mr. Fu Yuanhong (resigned on 28 June 2023)

Mr. Wu Xiaoming

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ju Mengjun 

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Zhang Wei

Mr. Law Yui Lun

Dr. Jin Lizuo

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the 

Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less 

than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least 

once every three years.
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Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Wu Xiaoming was appointed as an executive Director and his service contract was renewed for a term of three 

years commencing from 1 October 2022, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election, in accordance with the 

bye-laws of the Company. Mr. Wu’s remuneration will be director fee of HK$50,000 and salary of HK$164,000 per 

month.

Mr. Ju Mengjun was appointed as a non-executive Director for a term of three years commencing from 

22 December 2020, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company. 

Mr. Ju’s remuneration will be director’s fee of HK$30,000 per month.

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng was appointed as a non-executive Director and his service contract was renewed for an initial 

term of three years commencing from 3 April 2021, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election pursuant to the 

bye-laws of the Company. Mr. Zhang’s remuneration will be director’s fee of HK$30,000 per month.

Dr. Zhang Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and his service contract was renewed for an 

initial term of three years commencing from 1 November 2020, subject to retirement by rotation and other related 

provisions as stipulated in the bye-laws of the Company. Dr. Zhang Wei shall receive a remuneration of HK$30,000 

per month.

Mr. Law Yui Lun was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and his service contract was renewed 

for an initial term of three years commencing from 1 November 2020, subject to retirement by rotation and other 

related provisions as stipulated in the bye-laws of the Company. Mr. Law shall receive a remuneration of HK$30,000 

per month.

Dr. Jin Lizuo was appointed as an independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years commencing 

from 11 February 2023, and is subject to retirement by rotation and other related provisions as stipulated in the 

bye-laws of the Company. Dr. Jin Lizuo shall receive a remuneration of HK$30,000 per month.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable 

within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the 

shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning 

of Part XV of the SFO) which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed, to 

have pursuant to such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 

referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions 

by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 

Shares held

Percentage of 

the Company’s 

issued share 

capital

(Note)

Mr. Wu Xiaoming Beneficial owner 31,880,000 0.88%

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng Beneficial owner 237,209,900 6.52%

Note:  The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s total number of 3,640,627,457 Shares in issue as 

at 31 March 2024.

Share option scheme

The Group has adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution passed at the annual general meeting of 

the Company held on 25 September 2012. In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant 

the share options to individuals including employee or proposed employee, non-executive director and customer of 

the Company or any of its subsidiaries or entities in which the Group holds an equity interest and persons providing 

research, development or other technological support to the above in order to acquire shares of the Company. The 

Board considers that the Share Option Scheme enables the Group to provide incentives and rewards to the above 

participants for their contribution to the Group.

Save for the grant of share options by the Company on 13 January 2017, no share option has been granted since the 

adoption of the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme had expired on 25 September 2022. Accordingly, 

there was no share option outstanding as at 31 March 2024 and as at the date of this annual report.

Further particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 39 of the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements in this annual report.
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Arrangement to purchase shares or debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 

shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interest in contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow 

subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Competing interests

In respect of the Year, the Directors were not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial 

Shareholders and their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may 

compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such person has or may have 

with the Group.

Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, so far as it was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company, the register of 

substantial shareholders maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO showed that the following 

shareholders (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had an interest of 5% or more in the 

issued share capital of the Company:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number of 

Shares held

Percentage of 

the Company’s 

issued share 

capital

(Note 2)

山西省國有資本運營有限公司 Interest in a controlled corporation 1,027,985,995  (Note 1) 28.24%

山西大地環境投資控股有限公司 Interest in a controlled corporation 1,027,985,995  (Note 1) 28.24%

山西省環境集團有限公司 Interest in a controlled corporation 1,027,985,995  (Note 1) 28.24%

Dadi International Holdings Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 1,027,985,995 28.24%
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Notes:

1. Dadi International Holdings Co., Ltd is beneficially and wholly-owned by 山西省環境集團有限公司 , which is in turn 

beneficially and 90% owned by 山西大地環境投資控股有限公司 , which is in turn beneficially and wholly-owned by 山西省

國有資本運營有限公司 . As such, each of山西省環境集團有限公司 , 山西大地環境投資控股有限公司 and 山西省國有資本

運營有限公司 is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Dadi International Holdings Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company has not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors 

and chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the 

Company which were to be recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO and/or who were 

directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at 

general meetings of any other members of the Group.

2. The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s total number of 3,640,627,457 Shares in issue as 

at 31 March 2024.

Retirement benefits scheme

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note 38 of the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements in this annual report.

Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 

5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial 

reporting process and internal control procedures of the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the audit 

committee comprises of three independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Law Yui Lun who is the chairman of 

the audit committee, Dr. Zhang Wei and Dr. Jin Lizuo, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng. During 

the Year, the audit committee held four meetings to review the Group’s annual report, half-year report and quarterly 

reports.

Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written terms of reference in accordance with the 
requirements of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration committee comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Law Yui Lun, Dr. Jin Lizuo and Dr. Zhang Wei who is the chairman 
of the remuneration committee and one executive Director, Mr. Wu Xiaoming. The principal responsibilities of the 
remuneration committee include recommendation to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy and structure for 
all remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Company, the determination of specific remuneration 
packages of all executive Directors and senior management of the Company, and to review and approve 
performance-based remuneration.
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Nomination committee

The Company has established a nomination committee with written terms of reference in accordance with the 
requirements of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the nomination committee comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Dr. Jin Lizuo and an executive 
Director, Mr. Wu Xiaoming who is the chairman of the nomination committee. The roles and functions of the 
nomination committee include nomination of potential candidates for directorship, reviewing the nomination of the 
Directors and making recommendations to the Board for ensuring that all nominations are fair and transparent.

Related party transactions

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken in the ordinary course of business by the Group 
during the Year, which constituted connected transactions of the Group but was fully exempt from the reporting, 
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM 
Listing Rules are set out in note 37 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Auditors

The accounts for the Year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon 
the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited 
as auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

There was no change of auditors of the Company in the past three years.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Company has been in compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wu Xiaoming 
Interim  Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 July 2024
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31/F, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street

Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DADI INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Dadi International Group Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 151, which comprise 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance 

of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  section of our report, we have not been able to 

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial 

statements and as to whether the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern basis

As described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately 

HK$91,213,000 during the year ended 31 March 2024 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded 

its current assets by approximately HK$436,932,000 and had net liabilities of HK$406,810,000. At 31 March 2024, 

the Group had defaulted in repayment of borrowings of approximately HK$584,634,000, whilst its cash and cash 

equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$12,987,000. The defaulted borrowings remained outstanding as at 

the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial statements.

The factors referred to above, along with other matters as described in note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern basis (continued)

The directors of the Company have certain plans and measures as set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements in order to improve the liquidity and financial position of the Group. The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the outcomes of 

these plans and measures, which are inherently uncertain and subject to multiple uncertainties as to whether the 

Group can successfully achieve the following outcomes:

(i) entering into settlement arrangements with lenders of the defaulted borrowings;

(ii) attaining profitable and positive net cash inflows from operations by implementing measures to tighten cost 

controls over operation costs and expenses;

(iii) collecting trade and other receivables to improve operating cash flows and its financial position;

(iv) obtaining further financing from investors, lenders and shareholders, including but not limited to shareholder’s 

loans, equity financing and bank borrowings, to improve the liquidity of the Group; and

(v) dispose of its non-core business and/or financial assets in order to raise fund for the working capital of the 

Group.

We have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the appropriateness 

of the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

because of the lack of detailed analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and measures for future 

actions in its going concern assessment which take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and 

measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future cash flows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write 

down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise 

and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The 

effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements and we were unable 

to determine whether such adjustments might have been found necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong 

Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditors’ report. This report is made solely to you, 

as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 

for the contents of this report.

However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  section of our report, we were not 

able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated 

financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 

“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited 

Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex 

Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 26 July 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2024

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 8 19,533 36,482

Cost of sales (9,635) (24,841)

Gross profit 9,898 11,641

Other gains or losses, net 9 3,768 3,987

Administrative expenses (25,993) (30,775)

Allowance for expected credit losses, net (9,276) (265,377)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of right-of-use assets 19 – (82)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill 20 (1,749) (2,840)

Write-down of inventories 23 (274) –

Loss from operations 11 (23,626) (283,446)

Finance costs 12 (66,851) (49,329)

Loss before taxation (90,477) (332,775)

Income tax expense 13 (736) (128)

Loss for the year (91,213) (332,903)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 12,454 (26,994)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 8,922 (3,159)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year,  

net of income tax 21,376 (30,153)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (69,837) (363,056)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2024

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (58,435) (287,148)

Non-controlling interests (32,778) (45,755)

(91,213) (332,903)

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (42,910) (327,440)

Non-controlling interests (26,927) (35,616)

(69,837) (363,056)

Loss per share

Basic and diluted 17 HK(1.61) cents HK(7.89) cents

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 18 400 565

Right-of-use assets 19 – 1,586

Goodwill 20 1,493 3,362

Financial assets at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 28 28,229 16,346

30,122 21,859

Current assets

Inventories 23 – 274

Trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 24 645,592 680,137

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 27 727 1,344

Tax recoverable – 786

Bank balances and cash 29 12,987 8,880

659,306 691,421

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 30 472,983 402,369

Contract liabilities 31 478 1,547

Borrowings 32 584,634 605,431

Lease liabilities 33 203 1,426

Tax payable 37,940 38,827

1,096,238 1,049,600

Net current liabilities (436,932) (358,179)

Total assets less current liabilities (406,810) (336,320)

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 33 – 653

Net (liabilities)/assets (406,810) (336,973)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2024

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 34 36,406 36,406

Reserves (211,883) (168,973)

Capital deficiency attributable to owners of the Company (175,477) (132,567)

Non-controlling interests 40 (231,333) (204,406)

Total capital deficiency (406,810) (336,973)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 July 

2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Wu Xiaoming

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Contributed

surplus

Capital 

contribution

reserve

Statutory 

reserve

Revaluation 

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses Subtotal

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

Note (i) Note (ii) Note (iii) Note (iv) Note (v) Note (vi)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2022 36,406 1,828,573 311,538 295 7,706 19,546 59,909 (2,069,100) 194,873 (168,790) 26,083

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (287,148) (287,148) (45,755) (332,903)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income  

for the year, net of income tax:

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  

through other comprehensive income – – – – – (26,994) – – (26,994) – (26,994)

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – (13,298) – (13,298) 10,139 (3,159)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – – – (26,994) (13,298) (287,148) (327,440) (35,616) (363,056)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 36,406 1,828,573 311,538 295 7,706 (7,448) 46,611 (2,356,248) (132,567) (204,406) (336,973)

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (58,435) (58,435) (32,778) (91,213)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income  

for the year, net of income tax:

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value  

through other comprehensive income – – – – – 12,454 – – 12,454 – 12,454

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – 3,071 – 3,071 5,851 8,922

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – – – 12,454 3,071 (58,435) (42,910) (26,927) (69,837)

Appropriation of statutory reserve – – – – 1,224 – – (1,224) – – –

As at 31 March 2024 36,406 1,828,573 311,538 295 8,930 5,006 49,682 (2,415,907) (175,477) (231,333) (406,810)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2024

Notes:

(i) Share premium

After the change of domicile, the application of share premium account is governed by the relevant provisions set out in the 

Company’s Bye-laws and the Companies Act.

(ii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries 

acquired and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued for the acquisition at the time of the reorganisation of 

the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the 

subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange pursuant to the reorganisation 

of the Group.

(iii) Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents the differences between the deemed consideration received and the proportionate 

share of the carrying amount of the net assets attributable to the owners of the Company upon the deemed disposal of a 

subsidiary.

(iv) Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made 

out of profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries. The amount should not be 

less than 10% of the profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the aggregate amount exceeds 

50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, 

and can be applied in conversion into the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation issue.

(v) Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve of the Group comprises all differences arising from the fair value changes of the financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in 

note 4.

(vi) Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 

foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4.
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Loss before taxation (90,477) (332,775)

Adjustments for:

Interest income 9 (85) (87)

Dividend income 9 (1,600) –

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (1,177) (1,875)

Interest expenses 12 66,851 49,329

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 147 138

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 11 1,000 1,849

Gain on lease termination 9 (27) (165)

Loss/(gain) arising on change in fair value of financial assets at  

fair value through profit or loss 9 617 (1,342)

Allowance for expected credit losses, net 11 9,276 265,377

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill 20 1,749 2,840

Impairment loss recognised in respect of right-of-use assets 19 – 82

Write-down of inventories 23 274 –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (13,452) (16,629)

Decrease in inventories – 1,471

Increase in trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and  

prepayments (6,553) (9,384)

Increase in trade and other payables 24,753 19,461

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (1,067) 1,551

Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 3,681 (3,530)

Tax refund/(paid) 369 (977)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 4,050 (4,507)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2024

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities

Interest received 85 87

Dividend received 1,600 –

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 18 – (446)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 1,685 (359)

Financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities (1,375) (1,926)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,375) (1,926)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,360 (6,792)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 8,880 16,854

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (253) (1,182)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Bank balances and cash 29 12,987 8,880

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Dadi International Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with 

limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 9 November 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 20 April 2009. 

The Company’s shares have been listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) since 26 August 2002. Its immediate holding company is Dadi International Holdings Co., Ltd and 

ultimate holding company is 山西省國有資本運營有限公司 , a company incorporated in the People’s Republic 

of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the 

functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except 

otherwise indicated.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are 

publication, purchase and distributing of books, provision of environmental consultancy services, provision of 

financial leasing and other financial services, provision of advertising and media related services and sale of 

healthcare products.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily 

effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and  

February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities Arising  

from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice  

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 

financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and  

its Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and  

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by the  

Borrower of a Term Loan that contains a Repayment on  

Demand Clause2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all amendments to HKFRS will have no 

material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if 

such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 

accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 

observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 

liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 

take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 

for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on 

such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based 

Payment , leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases , and measurements 

that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 

of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$91,213,000, and as of 

that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$436,932,000 and had net liabilities 

of HK$406,810,000. Further, as at 31 March 2024, the Group has defaulted in repayment of borrowings 

of approximately HK$584,634,000 whilst its cash and cash equivalents only amounted to approximately 

HK$12,987,000. In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have given careful consideration 

to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing 

whether the Group will be able to finance its future working capital and finance requirements. Certain 

measures have been planned and are being taken, or will be taken, to manage the liquidity needs of the 

Group and to improve its financial position which include, but are not limited to, the followings:

(i) The Group is in negotiations with a view to formulate settlement arrangements with lenders of 

defaulted borrowings;

(ii) The Group has implemented measures to tighten cost controls over operation costs and expenses with 

the aim of attaining profitable and positive net cash inflow from operations;

(iii) The Group is taking active measures to collect trade and other receivables to improve operating cash 

flows and its financial position;

(iv) The Group is seeking investors, leaders and shareholders for obtaining further financing, including but 

not limited to shareholder’s loans, equity financing and bank borrowings, to improve the liquidity of 

the Group; and

(v) The Group is seeking buyers to dispose of its non-core business and/or financial assets in order to raise 

fund for the working capital of the Group.
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Going concern (continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in light of the various measures or arrangements that are 

being implemented, the Group will have sufficient working capital for its current requirements and it is 

reasonable to expect the Group to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the directors of the 

Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going 

concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made 

to write down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities 

which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current 

liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial 

statements.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 

to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of 

the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 

represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 

relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling 

interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 

retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 

attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 

liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 

specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary 

at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 

under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments  or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in 

an associate or a joint venture.

Business combination

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an input and a substantive process 

that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered 

substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce 

with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they significantly 

contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be 

replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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Business combination (continued)

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under common control, are accounted for using 

the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, 

which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, 

liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 

Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit or 

loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for 

transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 

or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business 

combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 

value at the acquisition date, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits 

respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-

based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 

of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting 

policy below);

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as 

defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases 

for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset 

is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant 

lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with 

market terms.
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Business combination (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at 

acquisition date. If, after assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured at the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or 

at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of 

non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent 

consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and 

included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of 

the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. 

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during 

the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period 

adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that 

is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is 

accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured 

to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or 

loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 

the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

(“CGU”) (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which 

represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not 

larger than an operating segment.
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Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more 

frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in 

a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 

before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the 

impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets 

on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount 

of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group 

disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill 

disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the 

portion of the CGU (or the groups of CGUs) retained.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 

to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 

over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 

using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for equity accounting 

purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and 

events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised 

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 

share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of an associate. Changes in net assets of the 

associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes 

resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 

exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form 

part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further 

losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 

becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the 

investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 

is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, 

after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 

acquired.
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Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. 

When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 

for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of 

value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is 

not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any 

reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable 

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of 

the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the 

Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope 

of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded 

as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the 

fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in an associate is 

included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of an associate. In addition, the Group accounts 

for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same 

basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, 

if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified 

to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss 

from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant 

associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in 

a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity 

method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 

recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss 

would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of 

interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 

or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when 

the asset is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 

average basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all costs necessary 

to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which 

the Group must incur to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods 

or services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition 

and location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying 

cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.



77Dadi International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2024

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 

are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms or 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20% – 33%

Showroom equipment 33%

Office equipment 20% – 33%

Motor vehicles 20% – 25%

Residual values, estimated useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 

at the end of each reporting period with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 

basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 

or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 

a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from 

business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition 

under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be 

reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 

the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative 

stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, 

and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease 

component.

Short-term leases 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease 

term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease 

payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight line basis or another systematic basis 

over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 

the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from 

Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 

assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. 

Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 

life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 

position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured 

at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and 

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 

value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 

Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 

at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option 

to terminate the lease.
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Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 

assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 

which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, 

in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 

the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group 

accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying 

assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price 

for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the 

circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability 

based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 

discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to 

the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more 

additional lease or non-lease components, the Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease 

components from lease component, and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.
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Leases (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group 

has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of 

the following conditions are met:

• the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same 

as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent 

concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease 

modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The 

related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment 

recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 

derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 

that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market 

place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising 

from contracts with customers which are measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers . Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 

and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 

appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 

or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 

liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and 

points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; 

and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 

collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the initial recognition of a 

financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 

investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor 

contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 

Combination applies.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at 

amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments 

other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying 

the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that 

have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-

impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 

financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 

improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting 

period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 

arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the revaluation reserve; and are not 

subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on 

disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right 

to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of 

the investment. Dividends are included in the “other gains or losses, net” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated 

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 

dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains or losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets 

(including trade, bills and other receivables and deposits, deposit for film production, deposit for purchase 

of film rights and bank balances and cash which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9). The 

amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 

expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment 

are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 

debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date 

as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant financing component. The 

ECL on these assets are assessed individually and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate 

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or 

risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 

risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making 

this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 

and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available 

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 

increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) 

or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in 

the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 

debt obligations.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 180 days past 

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable 

of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 

developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 

creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 

than 1 year past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset 

is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 

otherwise consider;
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty 

is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 

counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 

assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, 

taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 

magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 

probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. 

Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the 

respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at 

the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 

formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue 

to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 

financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of 

the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments through a 

loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, 

net of direct issue costs.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortized cost at the 

end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortized 

cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the ‘Other gains and 

losses’ line item in profit or loss as part of foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial liabilities that are 

not part of a designated hedging relationship. For those which are designated as a hedging instrument for 

a hedge of foreign currency risk, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 

and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured 

as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognized in 

profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the 

extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 

the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 

proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition 

to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not 

reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject 

to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months 

or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of 

meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 

cash equivalents as defined above.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 

assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 

an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 

to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount of property, plant and 

equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible asset are estimated individually. When it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation 

can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated to 

the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 

identified.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 

the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion 

of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group 

compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets 

or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of 

CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 

of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount 

of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the 

highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The 

amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to 

the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of 

CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Film rights

Film rights represent films produced by the Group or acquired by the Group which are initially recognised at 

cost.

Film rights purchased through acquisition are initially measured as the fair value of the consideration given for 

the recognition of the film rights.

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of 

film rights are amortised over their estimated useful lives upon release of the film. Film rights not ready for 

release are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

The carrying amount of film rights is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 

goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 

series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 

complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 

as the Group performs;

• The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 

performs; or

• The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods 

or services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 

Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance 

with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only 

the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 

Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether 

the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. 

the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the 

Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to 

a customer.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or 
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by 
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it 
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for 
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method, 
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services 
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, 
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Revenue recognition policies

(i) Environmental consultancy service

Revenue from environmental assessment service is recognised at a point in time when the 
environmental assessment report is completed and delivered.

Revenue from environmental consulting and monitoring service is recognised over time using 
output method, over the period of services provided. Revenue is recognised on the basis of direct 
measurement of the value of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining 
services promised under the contract.

(ii) Financial services

Revenue from financial services is recognised over time using output method, over the period of 
services provide. Revenue is recognised on the basis of direct measurement of the value of the services 
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining services promised under the contract.

(iii) Sale of healthcare products

Revenue from sale of healthcare products is recognised at a point in time when control of the 
healthcare products has been transferred, being when the healthcare products have been delivered to 
the customer.

(iv) Publication, purchase and distribution of books

Revenue from publication, purchase and distribution of books is recognised at a point in time 
when control of the books has been transferred, being when the books have been delivered to the 
wholesaler’s specific location (delivery).
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Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and 

the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by 

employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are 

stated at their present values.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the 

statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The 

assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. 

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are members of retirement benefits 

schemes (the “PRC RB Schemes”) managed by the local municipal governments. The PRC subsidiaries are 

required to contribute to the PRC RB Schemes to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government 

undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and future retired employees of the PRC 

subsidiaries. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the PRC RB Schemes is to meet the 

required contributions under the PRC RB Schemes. The contribution are charged to the profit or loss as they 

become payable in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding 

increase in share-based compensation reserve with equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the 

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 

were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled 

to the share options, the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over the vesting period, 

taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the 

cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income for the year under review, unless the original employee expenses qualify 

for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based compensation reserve.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 

options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based compensation reserve) except where 

forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s 

shares. The equity amount is recognised in the share-based compensation reserve until either the option is 

exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires (when it is released 

directly to accumulated losses).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to 

terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal 

plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax 

because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 

or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 

the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 

profit nor the accounting profits and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and 

deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 

and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise 

the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 

applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary 

differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and 

over the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising 

from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from 

remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption 

are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 

arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for 

the business combination.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 

the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is 

material).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 

entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates 

of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange 

rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average 

exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which 

case the exchange rates at the date of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve 

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of 

that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control 

over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-

controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal 

of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint 

control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign 

operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 

prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 

recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 

government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire 

non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and 

transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 

incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 

are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented 

under “other gains or losses, net”.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 

a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group is a part, provides key management personnel services to 

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial 

statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive directors, 

being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the 

performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 

segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 

services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 

the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which 

are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 

recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment 

of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of 

existing debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 

total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current liabilities as shown 

in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated 

as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

Gearing ratio

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the 

directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The gearing ratios at 

31 March 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total debt (Note a) 584,837 607,510

Less: cash and cash equivalents (12,987) (8,880)

Net debt 571,850 598,630

Capital deficiency (Note b) (406,810) (336,973)

Net debt to equity ratio N/A N/A

Total debt to equity ratio N/A N/A

Notes:

(a) Debt represent borrowings and lease liabilities, as detailed in notes 32 and 33, respectively.

(b) Capital deficiency represents share capital and reserves of the Group.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTOCI 28,229 16,346
Financial assets at FVTPL 727 1,344
Financial assets at amortised cost 365,599 385,656

394,555 403,346

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,057,820 1,009,879

Fair value measurement

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 
in active markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively; 
and

• the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding those described above) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2024
Assets
Financial assets at FVTOCI – – 28,229 28,229
Financial assets at FVTPL – – 727 727

– – 28,956 28,956

At 31 March 2023
Assets
Financial assets at FVTOCI – – 16,346 16,346
Financial assets at FVTPL – – 1,344 1,344

– – 17,690 17,690
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Type

Fair value

hierarchy Valuation technique

Significant

unobservable inputs

Sensitivity

analysis

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Unlisted equity securities 

2024: HK$27,860,000  

(2023: HK$15,879,000)

Level 3 Market approach Price-to-earnings multiple  

2024: 10.33 times  

(2023: 7.17 times to 11.8 times)

Enterprise value-to-revenue multiple  

2024: 2.43 times (2023: Nil)

Discount for lack of marketability  

2024: 20.5% (2023: 20.6%)

Note (i), (ii) and (iii)

Unlisted equity securities 

2024: HK$369,000 

(2023: HK$467,000)

Level 3 Asset-based approach Net asset value

Financial assets at FVTPL

Derivative financial  

instrument  

2024: HK$727,000  

(2023: HK$1,344,000)

Level 3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of 5.48%  

(2023: 6.93%)

Note (iv)

Notes:

(i) An increase in the price-to-earnings multiple used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value 
measurement of the unlisted equity securities, and vice versa. A 5% change in the price-to-earnings multiple 
holding all other variables constant would change the fair values of the unlisted equity securities by approximately 
HK$1,324,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$685,000).

(ii) An increase in the enterprise value-to-revenue multiple used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value 
measurement of the unlisted equity securities, and vice versa. A 5% change in the enterprise value-to-revenue 
multiple holding all other variables constant would change the fair values of the unlisted equity securities by 
approximately HK$940,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).

(iii) An increase in the discount for lack of marketability used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value 
measurement of the unlisted equity securities, and vice versa. A 5% change in the discount for lack of marketability 
holding all other variables constant would change the fair values of the unlisted equity securities by approximately 
HK$356,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$114,000).

(iv) An increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of 
the derivative financial instrument, and vice versa. A 1% increase in the discount rate holding all other variables 
constant would decrease the fair values of the derivative financial instrument by approximately HK$5,000 (2023: 
HK$12,000) while a 1% decrease in the discount rate holding all other variables constant would increase the fair 
values of the derivative financial instrument by approximately HK$5,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$13,000).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements is as following:

Unlisted 

equity

securities

Derivative 

financial 

instrument Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2022 46,737 – 46,737

Gain arising on change in fair value recognised in  

profit or loss – 1,344 1,344

Loss arising on change in fair value recognised in OCI (26,994) – (26,994)

Exchange alignment (3,397) – (3,397)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 16,346 1,344 17,690

Loss arising on change in fair value recognised in  

profit or loss – (617) (617)

Gain arising on change in fair value recognised in OCI 12,454 – 12,454

Exchange alignment (571) – (571)

As at 31 March 2024 28,229 727 28,956

Included in OCI was a gain of HK$12,454,000 (2023: loss of HK$26,994,000) relating to financial assets at 

FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and was accumulated in the revaluation reserve.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Levels 1 and Level 2, or 

transfers into or out of Level 3.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the 

reporting period in which they occur.

The directors considered that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost 

approximate their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of the financial instruments for the Group are disclosed in respective notes to the financial statements. 

The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and 

other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 

Management of the Company manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 

implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade, 

bills and other receivables and deposits, deposit for film production, deposit for purchase of film rights, bank 

balances, trade and other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are 

disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how 

to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s risk exposure relating to financial instruments or the manner in 

which it manages and measures the risks.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade, bills and other receivables and deposits, deposit for 

film production, deposit for purchase of film rights and bank balances. Management of the Company has a 

credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In relation to the Group’s bank balance, the Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with 

financial institutions with high credit rating and no recent history of default. The directors of the Company 

consider that the Group’s credit risk on the bank deposits is low. Management continues to monitor the 

position and will take appropriate action if their ratings should change.

In respect of trade receivables, the credit periods usually vary from one month to three months depending 

on the nature of the business. Extension may be granted to major customers and each customer is granted 

a maximum credit limit. Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a 

certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and 

current ability to pay, and also taking into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining 

to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Debtors with balances that are more than 3 

months past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted and all 

overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the management of the Company. Normally, the Group does not 

obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer 

rather than the industry and country in which customers operate and therefore significant concentrations of 

credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the end of the 

reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 95.07% (2023: 94.62%) and 96.99% 

(2023: 96.74%) of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest 

customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 

consolidated statement of financial position after deducting any loss allowance. The Group does not provide 

any guarantees which would expose the Group or the Company to credit risk.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of a financial asset and whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess 

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on 

the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers 

available, reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. Especially the following indicators are 

incorporated:

• internal credit rating;

• external credit rating;

• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

• actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower;

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower; and

• significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, including changes in 

the payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group applies either a 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether 

there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk 

of a receivables has occurred since initial recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

For deposit for film production and deposit for purchase of films rights relating to accounts that are long 

overdue with significant amounts, known insolvencies or non-response to collection activities, they are 

assessed individually for allowance for ECL. The Group recognised allowance for ECL by assessing the credit 

risk characteristics of debtor, discount rate and the likelihood of recovery and considering the prevailing 

economic conditions.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and bills 

receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 2023:

Expected
loss rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

As at 31 March 2024 % HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month past due 22.00 509 112
1 to 3 months past due 38.52 701 270
More than 3 months 43.69 614,494 268,483

615,704 268,865

Expected
loss rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

As at 31 March 2023 % HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month past due 1.77 2,338 41
1 to 3 months past due 2.04 1,971 40
More than 3 months 42.59 636,332 270,997

640,641 271,078
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table shows the movement of allowances for ECL of trade and bills receivables as at 31 March 

2024 and 2023:

Lifetime ECL

(non credit-

Impaired)

Lifetime 

ECL (credit-

impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and bills receivables

As at 1 April 2022 12,780 271,775 284,555

– Transfer to credit-impaired (12,711) 12,711 –

– Allowance for ECL, net 124 7,319 7,443

– Exchange alignment (6) (20,914) (20,920)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 187 270,891 271,078

– Transfer to credit-impaired (48) 48 –

– Allowance for ECL, net 4,824 2,243 7,067

– Exchange alignment (23) (9,257) (9,280)

As at 31 March 2024 4,940 263,925 268,865
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loss 

allowance is determined for each of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the 

Group’s ECL model is as follows:

Category Company definition of category Basis for recognition of loss allowance

Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line 

with original expectations

12m ECL. Where the expected lifetime 

of an asset is less than 12 months, 

expected losses are measured at its 

lifetime ECL (stage 1)

Underperforming Receivables for which a significant 

increase in credit risk has occurred 

compared to original expectations; 

a significant increase in credit risk is 

presumed if interest and/or principal 

repayments are 30 days past due

Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

Non-performing  

(credit-impaired)

Interest and/or principal repayments 

are 90 days past due or it becomes 

probable a customer will enter 

bankruptcy

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are 

180 days past due and there is no 

reasonable expectation of recovery

Amount is written off

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the 

ECL rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant changes to 

estimation techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The loss allowance for other receivables and deposits, deposit for film production and deposit for purchase of 

film rights as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 was determined as follows:

2024 2023

Performing

Non-

performing 

(credit-

impaired) Total Performing

Non-

performing 

(credit-

impaired) Total

Other receivables and deposits HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expected loss rate 2.45% 100% 2.53% 100.00%

Gross carrying amount 5,918 237,520 243,438 7,400 241,481 248,881

Loss allowance 145 237,520 237,665 187 241,481 241,668

2024 2023
Non-

performing
(credit-impaired) Total

Non-
performing

(credit-impaired) Total
Deposit for film production HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expected loss rate 100.00% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount 103,079 103,079 106,745 106,745

Loss allowance 103,079 103,079 106,745 106,745

2024 2023
Non-

performing
(credit-impaired) Total

Non-
performing

(credit-impaired) Total
Deposit for purchase of film rights HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expected loss rate 100.00% 100.00%

Gross carrying amount 13,789 13,789 14,279 14,279

Loss allowance 13,789 13,789 14,279 14,279
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following tables show the movement of allowances for ECL of other receivables and deposits, deposit for 

film production and deposit for purchase of film rights as at 31 March 2024 and 2023:

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables and deposits

As at 1 April 2022 7,210 70,388 77,598

– Transfer to credit-impaired (5,421) 5,421 –

– Allowance for ECL, net (1,476) 226,897 225,421

– Written off – (55,541) (55,541)

– Exchange alignment (126) (5,684) (5,810)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 187 241,481 241,668

– Transfer to credit-impaired (53) 53 –

– Allowance for ECL, net 14 2,195 2,209

– Written off – – –

– Exchange alignment (3) (6,209) (6,212)

As at 31 March 2024 145 237,520 237,665
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)

HK$’000

Deposit for film production
As at 1 April 2022 84,342

– Allowance for ECL, net 28,677
– Exchange alignment (6,274)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 106,745
– Exchange alignment (3,666)

As at 31 March 2024 103,079

Deposit for purchase of film rights
As at 1 April 2022 11,282

– Allowance for ECL, net 3,836
– Exchange alignment (839)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 14,279
– Exchange alignment (490)

As at 31 March 2024 13,789

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the 

short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to 

board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and 

its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate 

committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and 

longer term.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents considered adequate by the directors 

of the Company to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The 

Group held cash and cash equivalents amounting to approximately HK$12,987,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: 

HK$8,880,000).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity at the end of the reporting period of 

the Group’s financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 

contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest 

date on which the Group was required to pay. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

Weighted

average

effective

Interest rate

Within

1 year

or on

demand

More than

1 year but

less than

2 years

Total 

contractual

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2024

Trade and other payables – 472,983 – 472,983 472,983

Borrowings 12 584,634 – 584,634 584,634

Lease liabilities 10.6 203 – 203 203

1,057,820 – 1,057,820 1,057,820

2023

Trade and other payables – 402,369 – 402,369 402,369

Borrowings 8.0 605,431 – 605,431 605,431

Lease liabilities 10.0 1,558 674 2,232 2,079

1,009,358 674 1,010,032 1,009,879

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and 

liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rates except for deposits held in the banks. Cash at bank 

earns interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposits rates during the year. Any change in the 

interest rate promulgated by banks from time to time is not considered to have significant impact to the 

Group.

The Group monitors the interest rate exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts the portfolio of bank saving 

balances and borrowings where necessary.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to currency risk primarily through 

bank balances and cash that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional 

currency of the operations to which the transaction relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 

Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States Dollars (“USD”). Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial 

transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in respect of exchange fluctuation of HK$ against RMB and 

USD. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 

assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

There is no material foreign exchange risk noted for the Group as:

– as HK$ are pegged to USD, it is assumed that there would be no material currency risk exposure 

between these two currencies;

– the transactions of the Company are mainly denominated in HK$, which is the functional currencies of 

the Company; and

– the operations and customers of the Group’s subsidiaries are mainly located in Hong Kong and the 

PRC with most of the operating assets and transactions denominated and settled in their functional 

currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL and 

FVTOCI. For equity securities measured at FVTPL quoted in active market, the management of the Group 

manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the Group 

also invested in certain unlisted equity securities for investees operating in finance industry sector for long 

term strategic purposes which had been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has appointed a special team to 

monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

Please refer to fair value measurement as above for more details on sensitivity analysis.
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7. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 4, the directors are required 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Power to exercise control over Shanxi Dadi Holdings Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd* 

(”Shanxi Dadi EIF”)（山西大地控股股權投資基金管理有限公司）

The Group’s investment in Shanxi Dadi EIF is classified as a financial asset at FVTOCI as disclosed in note 28 

although the Group has 60% equity interest in Shanxi Dadi EIF. The Group lacks direct or indirect involvement 

at board level and does not participate in policy-making related processes or activities of Shanxi Dadi EIF. With 

these facts and circumstances, the directors concluded that the Group does not have control over Shanxi Dadi 

EIF.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Provision of ECL for financial assets carried at amortised costs

The Group determined the provision of ECL for financial assets carried at amortised costs based on the ECL of 

these financial assets. The Group applies significant judgement in the determination of the impairment model 

and the use of parameters. The Group also uses significant judgement in its assessment on whether there is 

any significant increase in credit risk of these receivables. The Group makes assumptions on the economic 

indicators for forward-looking information and the application of economic scenarios and probability 

weightings.

* For identification purposes only
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7. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU (or 

group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less 

costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected 

to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 

value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which 

results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment 

loss or further impairment loss may arise.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair 

value with fair value being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. 

Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant 

inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material adjustments to the 

fair value of these instruments. See note 6 for further details.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2024

116 Dadi International Group Limited  Annual Report 2024

8. REVENUE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contract with customers
Over time

Environmental consultancy services 4,776 15,542

4,776 15,542

At a point in time
Environmental consultancy services 14,737 19,184
Sale of healthcare products 20 1,636
Sale of books and publications – 120

14,757 20,940

Total 19,533 36,482

All services are for a period of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated 

to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income on bank deposits 85 87
Dividend income 1,600 –
Government grants (note) 469 229
Gain on termination of lease 27 165

(Loss)/gain arising on change in fair value of financial assets  
at FVTPL (617) 1,342

Exchange gain 1,264 1,865
Others 940 299

Total 3,768 3,987

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised government grants of HK$469,000 relates to enterprise 

support fund provided by the PRC government.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government grants of HK$229,000 of which HK$44,000 

relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government and HK$101,000 relates to 

enterprise support fund provided by the PRC government.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of both business lines 

(products and services) and geographical locations. In a manner consistent with the way in which information 

is reported internally to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) for the purposes of resource allocation 

and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following five reportable segments. No operating 

segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

(i) Advertising and media  

related services:

Engaged in designing, production, acting as agency and placement 

of advertisements, information consulting and marketing planning in 

Hong Kong and the PRC.

(ii) Financial leasing and  

other financial services:

Provision of financial leasing and other financial services in the PRC.

(iii) Publication, purchase and  

distribution of books:

Engaged in publication, purchase and distribution of books in the 

PRC.

(iv) Environmental consultancy  

services:

Provision of environmental consultancy services in the PRC.

(v) Healthcare products: Engaged in sales of healthcare products in the PRC.

Segment revenues and results

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to CODM for the purposes of resources 

allocation and assessments of segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set out 

below:

Advertising and media

related services

Financial leasing and

other financial services

Publication, purchase and

distribution of books

Environmental 

consultancy services Healthcare products Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers – – – – – 120 19,513 34,726 20 1,636 19,533 36,482

Segment results (4) (49,685) (2,084) (150,205) (60,934) (50,124) (6,379) (9,485) (378) (870) (69,779) (260,369)

Unallocated other gains or losses, net 746 3,483

Unallocated expenses (16,575) (73,002)

Loss from operations (85,608) (329,888)

Unallocated finance costs (4,869) (2,887)

Loss before taxation (90,477) (332,775)

Income tax expense (736) (128)

Loss for the year (91,213) (332,903)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies as 

described in note 4. Segment results represent the profit/(loss) of each segment without allocation of central 

administrative expenses including directors’ remuneration, certain other gains or losses, net, certain allowance 

for ECL, net, certain finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the 

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment:

Advertising and 
media related services

Financial leasing and
other financial services

Publication,  
purchase and

distribution of books
Environmental 

consultancy services Healthcare products Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets 4,731 4,885 5,259 6,203 620,236 642,091 19,899 28,899 4,904 6,197 655,029 688,275

Unallocated assets 34,399 25,005

Total assets 689,428 713,280

Segment liabilities 26,483 27,009 28,682 31,168 934,913 903,041 6,086 7,208 7,385 7,437 1,003,549 975,863

Unallocated liabilities 92,689 74,390

Total liabilities 1,096,238 1,050,253

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

– all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than certain property, plant and equipments, 

right-of-use assets, financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL and corporate financial assets; 

and

– all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than certain lease liabilities, certain borrowings 

and corporate financial liabilities.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

Advertising and media

related services

Financial leasing and

other financial services

Publication, purchase and

distribution of books

Environmental 

consultancy services Healthcare products Unallocated Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses – – (35) – 61,947 (46,442) – – – – (4,869) (2,887) (66,851) (49,329)

Addition to non-current assets* – – – – – – – 425 – – – 2,022 – 2,447

Allowances for ECL, net (3) (49,685) (711) (147,804) (351) (2,028) (7,064) (7,417) – (8) (1,147) (58,435) (9,276) (265,377)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – – – – – – (137) (118) – – (10) (20) (147) (138)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets – – – – – – – – – – (1,000) (1,849) (1,000) (1,849)

(Loss)/gain arising on change in fair value of  

financial asset at FVTPL – – – – – – – – – – (617) 1,342 (617) 1,342

Impairment of goodwill – – – – – – (1,749) (2,840) – – – – – (2,840)

Impairment of right-of-use assets – – – – – – – – – – – (82) – (82)

* Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from 

external customers and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets* (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical 

location of customers is based on the location of the revenue derived, and the specified non-current assets is 

based on the physical location of the asset in the case of property, plant and equipment, and the location of 

the operation to which they are allocated in the case of goodwill.

The Group operates in three principal geographical areas – Hong Kong, Japan and the PRC (excluding Hong 

Kong).

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical 

location are detailed below:

Revenue from external customers Non-current assets*

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong – – 21 1,613

Japan – – – 5

The PRC 19,533 36,482 1,872 3,895

19,533 36,482 1,893 5,513

* Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s customer base is diversified and there was no 

customer with whom transactions exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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11. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

The Group’s loss from operations has been arrived at after charging:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services 990 1,031

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 18) 147 138

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 19) 1,000 1,849

Total depreciation 1,147 1,987

Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,330 1,109

Write-down of inventories 274 –

Allowance for ECL, net

– Trade and bills receivables 7,067 7,443

– Other receivables and deposits 2,209 225,421

– Deposit for film production – 28,677

– Deposit for purchase of film rights – 3,836

Total allowance for ECL, net 9,276 265,377

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)

Salaries and allowances 14,506 17,721

Retirement benefits scheme contribution 562 1,069

15,068 18,790
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12. FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on borrowings 66,734 49,191

Interest on lease liabilities 117 138

Total 66,851 49,329

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:

PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,104 164

Over-provision in respect of prior years:

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (368) (36)

Total tax charge 736 128

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT 

Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. No 

provision for profits tax is made in other jurisdictions as the subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions have 

no assessable profits for the both years.

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (90,477) (332,775)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at the rates  

applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned (20,501) (60,032)

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose – (172)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 21,605 60,368

Over-provision in respect of prior years (368) (36)

Income tax expense for the year 736 128
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

At 31 March 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$166,071,000 (2023: 

HK$175,043,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 

respect of unused tax loss due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax 

losses are losses of approximately HK$33,896,000 (2023: HK$42,868,000) with expiry dates as disclosed in 

the following table. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

2023 – 8,972

2024 11,251 11,251

2025 18,365 18,365

2026 4,280 4,280

33,896 42,868
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration paid to the directors of the Company are as follows:

Directors’

fees

Salaries

and other

allowances

Retirement

benefits scheme

contribution Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Executive directors:

Mr. Qu Zhongrang (Note a) – – – –

Mr. Fu Yuanhong (Note b) – – – –

Mr. Wu Xiaoming (Note c) 600 1,968 18 2,586

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng 360 – – 360

Mr. Ju Meng Jun 360 – – 360

Independent non-executive directors:

Dr. Jin Lizuo 360 – – 360

Mr. Law Yui Lun 360 – – 360

Dr. Zhang Wei 360 – – 360

Total 2,400 1,968 18 4,386

Notes:

(a) Mr. Qu Zhongrang resigned as executive director on 28 June 2023.

(b) Mr. Fu Yuanhong resigned as executive director and ceased to be the chairman of the board of directors on 28 June 

2023.

(c) Mr. Wu Xiaoming was appointed as the interim chairman of the board of directors on 28 June 2023.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors’

fees

Salaries

and other

allowances

Retirement

benefits scheme

contribution Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Executive directors:

Mr. Qu Zhongrang (Note a) 600 – – 600

Mr. Fu Yuanhong (Note b) 600 – – 600

Mr. Wu Xiaoming (Note c) 600 1,972 57 2,629

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng 360 – – 360

Mr. Ju Meng Jun 360 – – 360

Independent non-executive directors:

Dr. Jin Lizuo 360 – – 360

Mr. Law Yui Lun 360 – – 360

Dr. Zhang Wei 360 – – 360

Total 3,600 1,972 57 5,629

Mr. Fu Yuanhong is the chairman of the Company during the years ended 31 March 2023 and his emoluments 

disclosed above include those for service rendered by him.

Mr. Wu Xiaoming is the executive vice chairman and chief executive officer of the Company during the years 

ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 and his emoluments disclosed above include those for service rendered by 

him.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the 

directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of 

the directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the 

Company was party and in which a director of the Company had material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time for both years.

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Five highest paid individual

The five highest paid individuals during the year included one (2023: one) director. Details of his remuneration 

are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: 

four) individuals with highest emoluments for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances 3,537 3,536

Retirement benefits scheme contribution 170 132

Total 3,707 3,668

The number of non-director, highest paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following bands, is as 

follows:

Number of employees
2024 2023

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

4 4

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five 

highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 

office.
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16. DIVIDEND

No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 March 2024, nor any dividend has been 

proposed by the board of directors subsequent to the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 

following data:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss
Loss attributable to owners of the Company  

for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share (58,435) (287,148)

2024 2023

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  

of basic and diluted loss per share 3,640,627,457 3,640,627,457

No diluted loss per share were presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue in both years.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold

improvements

Furniture

and fixtures

Showroom

equipment

Office

equipment

Motor

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

As at 1 April 2022 4,186 440 2,400 1,689 2,614 11,329

Additions – 21 – 425 – 446

Exchange alignment (145) (8) – (76) (51) (280)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 4,041 453 2,400 2,038 2,563 11,495

Additions – – – – – –

Exchange alignment (128) (7) – (62) (51) (248)

As at 31 March 2024 3,913 446 2,400 1,976 2,512 11,247

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

As at 1 April 2022 4,186 435 2,400 1,422 2,614 11,057

Depreciation for the year – 2 – 136 – 138

Exchange alignment (145) (8) – (61) (51) (265)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 4,041 429 2,400 1,497 2,563 10,930

Depreciation for the year – 6 – 141 – 147

Exchange alignment (128) (6) – (45) (51) (230)

As at 31 March 2024 3,913 429 2,400 1,593 2,512 10,847

Net carrying amounts

As at 31 March 2024 – 17 – 383 – 400

As at 31 March 2023 – 24 – 541 – 565
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group does not have the option to purchase the right-of-use assets at the end of the lease terms.

Leased
buildings

HK$’000

As at 1 April 2022 2,462

Addition (Note) 2,001

Depreciation for the year (1,849)

Impairment loss for the year (82)

Termination of lease (946)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 1,586

Depreciation for the year (1,000)

Termination of lease (586)

As at 31 March 2024 –

For the year ended
31 March

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total cash outflow of leases 2,705 3,035

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that 

are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment assessment

For the year ended 31 March 2023

As at 31 March 2023, due to the continuing operating loss of the publication, purchase and distribution of 

books segment and healthcare products segment, the management of the Group concluded that there was 

indication for impairment in relation to these segments and conducted impairment assessment on corporate 

assets allocated to these segments which included right-of-use assets with carrying amount of approximately 

HK$82,000.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined that the recoverable 

amount of these CGUs is nil and full impairment loss of approximately HK$82,000 was recognised in respect 

of right-of-use assets allocated to these CGUs.

20. GOODWILL

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
As at 1 April 53,444 53,936

Exchange alignment (213) (492)

As at 31 March 53,231 53,444

Accumulated impairment losses
As at 1 April 50,082 47,248

Impairment loss for the year 1,749 2,840

Exchange alignment (93) (6)

As at 31 March 51,738 50,082

Net carrying amount
As at 31 March 1,493 3,362
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20. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the following CGUs identified 

according to operating segment.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising and media related services

–  Keen Renown Limited and its subsidiaries  

(the “Keen Renown Group”) – –

Environmental consultancy services

–  Shanxi Jinxin Keyuan Environmental Protection Science and  

Technology Co., Ltd* (“Jinxin Keyuan”) 

（山西晉新科源環保科技有限公司） 1,493 3,362

Advertising and media related services – Keen Renown Group

Full impairment loss was recognised in respect of the goodwill allocated to advertising and media related 

services as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Environmental consultancy services – Jinxin Keyuan

At 31 March 2024, the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to CGU of environmental consultancy 

services has been determined based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections 

based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax discount rate 

of 15% (2023: 15%). Cash flows of this CGU beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 

2% (2023: 3%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on domestic average consumer price index. Other 

key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which 

include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on past performance and management’s 

expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as the carrying amount of the CGU exceeded its recoverable amount, 

an impairment loss of goodwill of HK$1,749,000 (2023: HK$2,840,000) was recognised to reduce the 

carrying amount of the CGU to its recoverable amount. Any adverse change in the key assumptions used in 

the calculation of recoverable amount would result in further impairment losses.

* For identification purpose only
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Software
HK$’000

Cost
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 10,852

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 10,852

Net carrying amount
As at 31 March 2024 –

As at 31 March 2023 –

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:

Software 10 years

22. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity

Country of
incorporation/
registration

Principal
place of
business

Proportion of
ownership interest
held by the Group

Proportion of
voting rights held

by the Group
Principal
activity

2024 2023 2024 2023

Dadi Ecological  
Environment  
Investment Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 40% 40% 40% 40% Dormant

Unrecognised share of loss of an associate that is not individually material

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

The unrecognised share of loss of an associate for the year – (8)

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss of an associate (8) (8)
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23. INVENTORIES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Healthcare products – 274

All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, write-down of inventories of HK$274,000 was recognised.

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and bills receivables (Note a) 615,704 640,641
Allowance for ECL (268,865) (271,078)

346,839 369,563

Other receivables and deposits
– Deposits (Note b) 303 691
– Other receivables 231,922 236,578
– Loan receivables 11,213 11,612

243,438 248,881
Allowance for ECL (237,665) (241,668)

5,773 7,213

Prepayments (Note c) 292,980 303,361

Total 645,592 680,137

Notes:

(a) An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for ECL, 
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 412 2,297
31 to 60 days 192 1,307
61 to 90 days 388 624
Over 90 days 345,847 365,335

346,839 369,563

The Group generally allows credit period from 30 to 90 days to its customers.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

(b) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, deposits mainly consist of rental deposits for lease of offices.

(c) As at 31 March 2024, included in prepayments was an amount of approximately HK$275,770,000 (2023: 
HK$285,580,000) for prepayment of publishing services in relation to distribution of books.
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25. DEPOSIT FOR FILM PRODUCTION AND DEPOSIT FOR PURCHASE OF FILM 
RIGHTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposit for film production 103,079 106,745

Allowance for ECL (103,079) (106,745)

– –

Deposit for purchase of film rights 13,789 14,279

Allowance for ECL (13,789) (14,279)

– –

26. FILM RIGHTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
As at 1 April 14,279 15,413

Exchange alignment (490) (1,134)

As at 31 March 13,789 14,279

Accumulated impairment
As at 1 April 14,279 15,413

Exchange alignment (490) (1,134)

As at 31 March 13,789 14,279

Net carrying amount
As at 31 March – –
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27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial instrument 727 1,344

Derivative financial instrument represents the option to repurchase the consideration shares pursuant to the 

profit guarantee given by the Vendors (as defined in the Company’s announcement dated 28 December 2020) 

to the Group in relation to the acquisition of Jinxin Keyuan.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Vendors jointly and severally guarantee and undertake to the 

Company and Dadi Senrong Environment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (“Dadi Senrong”)（大地森榮環境（北京）有限

公司）(formerly known as Zhongtou Jinfu Technology Development (Beijing) Co., Ltd. *（眾投金服科技發展

（北京）有限公司）), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the purchaser of Jinxin Keyuan, that (i) 

the revenue from Jinxin Keyuan’s principal business will grow year by year; and (ii) the audited net profit after 

deducting all extraordinary items of the Jinxin Keyuan will be not less than the amounts set out below for the 

relevant years:

Relevant year Guaranteed profit

Year ending 31 December 2021 RMB5,500,000

Year ending 31 December 2022 RMB6,050,000

Year ending 31 December 2023 RMB6,655,000

If Jinxin Keyuan does not meet the above performance targets, the initial consideration of the acquisition will 

be adjusted. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 December 2020 for details.

Since the audited net profit after deducting all extraordinary items of Jinxin Keyuan for the year ended 31 

December 2022 and 2023 did not meet the guaranteed profit, the Company is entitled to the option to 

repurchase 100% of the consideration shares allotted and issued to the Vendors pursuant to the acquisition 

agreement. The Company will carry out the share repurchase after the guaranteed period and obtaining all 

regulatory approval(s).

* for identification purpose only
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities – the PRC 28,229 16,346

The financial assets are analysed as:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current 28,229 16,346

The unlisted equity securities represent the Group’s equity interests in companies established in the PRC. The 

directors of the Company have elected to designate this investment in unlisted equity securities as at FVTOCI 

as the Group’s strategy of holding these investments is for long-term purposes and realising their performance 

potential in the long run.

As at 31 March 2024, included in unlisted equity securities above is the Group’s investment in Shanxi Dadi 

EIF, a company established in the PRC, with a carrying amount of HK$1,937,000 (2023: HK$3,427,000). The 

investment represent a 60% equity interests in Shanxi Dadi EIF. Shanxi Dadi EIF is not regarded as a subsidiary 

of the Group because the Group lacks direct or indirect involvement at board level and does not participate in 

policy-making related processes or activities of Shanxi Dadi EIF.

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash on hand and at bank:
HK$ 340 313
RMB 12,589 7,567
Japanese Yen 1 1
USD 57 999

Total 12,987 8,880

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates for both years. Short-term 

time deposits are denominated in HK$, RMB and USD which made for varying periods between one day and 

three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective 

short-term time deposit rates.

RMB of approximately HK$12,589,000 (2023: HK$7,567,000) is not freely convertible into other currencies, 

however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 

Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other 

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (Note a) 165,827 172,253

Accruals and other payables (Note b) 273,837 195,384

Dividend payables to non-controlling interests 32,431 33,584

Security deposits received 888 1,148

472,983 402,369

Note:

(a) An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting 

period is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days – 160

31 to 60 days 98 344

61 to 90 days 110 2,475

Over 90 days 165,619 169,274

165,827 172,253

The average credit period on trade payables is 60 days.

(b) Accruals and other payables mainly consist of interest payables of approximately HK$141,112,000 (2023: 

HK$84,496,000).

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligations to transfer services to customers for which the Group 

has received consideration from the customers. The Group’s contract liabilities are analysed as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Environmental consultancy services contracts 478 1,547
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32. BORROWINGS

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings and the contractual maturity dates are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Entrusted loans (Note a) 551,542 571,161
Borrowings – unsecured (Note b) 33,092 34,270

584,634 605,431

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable:
Within one year 584,634 605,431

The interest rates per annum on the Group‘s borrowings were as follows:

2024 2023

Fixed rate 12.00% 8.00%

Notes:

(a) Shanxi Environment Group Company Limited*（山西省環境集團有限公司 , “Shanxi Environment”), a substantial 
shareholder of the Company entrusted a financial institution to provide the loan to Dadi Feichi Culture Development 
(Shanghai) Co., Limited*（大地飛馳文化發展（上海）有限公司 , “Dadi Feichi”）to finance its publication, purchase 
and distributing of books operation. The entrusted loan was guaranteed by a major customer of the publication, 
purchase and distributing of books operation (the “Entrusted Loan Guarantor”). It was agreed by Shanxi 
Environment, Dadi Feichi and the Entrusted Loan Guarantor that any amount paid by the Entrusted Loan Guarantor 
for settlement of outstanding principal and interest of the entrusted loan would be set off against the accounts 
payable by the Entrusted Loan Guarantor to Dadi Feichi.

Dadi Feichi defaulted in payment of interest since the year ended 31 March 2022 and defaulted in payment of 
principal at maturity date. Shanxi Environment as plaintiff has filed a civil claim to the People’s Court in Taiyuan, 
Shanxi Province, the PRC against Dadi Feichi and the Entrusted Loan Guarantor to recover the outstanding principal 
and interest of the entrusted loan. The court has handed down the enforcement ruling ordering the Entrusted Loan 
Guarantor to transfer the ownership of its assets to Shanxi Environment to partially settle the entrusted loan. The 
civil proceeding is still ongoing and Shanxi Environment will pursue enforcement of assets of the Entrusted Loan 
Guarantor to settle the remaining principal and interest of the entrusted loan. Any amount paid by the Entrusted 
Loan Guarantor for settlement of outstanding principal and interest of the entrusted loan would be set off against 
the account payables by the Entrusted Loan Guarantor to Dadi Feichi.

(b) The borrowing was granted by Shanxi Jin Tong Investment Management Company Limited* (山西金通投資管理有
限公司 , “Shanxi Jin Tong”), a related company of the Company, and was guaranteed by Shanxi Environment.

The Company defaulted in payments of interest and principal at maturity date. The Group has been negotiating 
settlement plan with Shanxi Jin Tong. The negotiation is still ongoing.

* For identification purpose only
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

2024 2023

Present value of

the minimum

lease payments

Total minimum

lease payments

Present value of

the minimum

lease payments

Total minimum

lease payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 203 203 1,426 1,558

After 1 year but within 2 years – – 653 674

Present value of lease obligations 203 203 2,079 2,232

Less: total future interest expenses – (153)

Present value of lease liabilities 203 2,079

Less: non-current portion – (653)

Current portion 203 1,426

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities was 10.6% (2023: 10.0% to 

10.6%).

34. SHARE CAPITAL

2024 2023

Number of 

shares Amount

Number of 

shares Amount

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 20,000,000,000 200,000 20,000,000,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:

As at 31 March, ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 3,640,627,457 36,406 3,640,627,457 36,406
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35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2023

The Group entered into a new lease agreement for the office. The new lease agreement is entered into 

for a fixed term of 2 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised a right-of-use asset of 

HK$2,001,000 and a lease liability of HK$2,001,000.

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or 
future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Lease
liabilities Borrowings Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2022 2,995 652,660 655,655
Cash flows:

Repayment of lease liabilities (1,926) – (1,926)

Non-cash items:
Interest accrued 138 – 138
New lease entered 2,001 – 2,001
Termination of lease (1,111) – (1,111)
Exchange alignments (18) (47,229) (47,247)

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 2,079 605,431 607,510
Cash flows:

Repayment of lease liabilities (1,375) – (1,375)

Non-cash items:
Interest accrued 117 – 117
Termination of lease (613) – (613)
Exchange alignments (5) (20,797) (20,802)

As at 31 March 2024 203 584,634 584,837
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material 

transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) Transactions with related parties

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finance costs incurred on the borrowings  

from Shanxi Jin Tong (note) 4,752 2,748

Note:

As Shanxi Dadi Environment Investment Holdings Co. Ltd*（山西大地環境投資控股有限公司）(“Dadi Environment”) 

is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and Shanxi Environment Protection Fund Company Limited*（山西

省環境保護基金有限公司 , “Shanxi Fund”) is a subsidiary of Dadi Environment, Shanxi Fund is an associate of a 

substantial shareholder of the Company and hence a connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing 

Rules.

As Shanxi Jin Tong is a subsidiary of Shanxi Fund, Shanxi Jin Tong is an associate of a substantial shareholder of the 

Company and hence a connected person of the Company under GEM Listing Rules.

(b) Compensation to key management personnel

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 4,315 4,732

Retirement benefits scheme contribution 251 164

4,566 4,896

* For identification purpose only
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Compensation to key management personnel (continued)

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key executives is determined by the remuneration 

committee with due regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. Further details of 

directors’ emoluments are included in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) Borrowings from related parties

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings from Shanxi Jin Tong (note) 33,092 34,270

Note:

As Shanxi Jin Tong is a subsidiary of Shanxi Fund, Shanxi Jin Tong is an associate of a substantial shareholder of the 
Company and hence a connected person of the Company under GEM Listing Rules. The borrowings were unsecured, 
interest bearing at 8.0% and repayable within one year.

(d) Corporate guarantee

Corporate guarantee is provided by Shanxi Environment, a substantial shareholder of the Company, for 

the unsecured borrowings amounted to HK$33,092,000 (2023: HK$34,270,000).

38. DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees. The 

assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. 

The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs (limited to HK$30,000 per annum of each individual 

employee) to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits 

schemes operated by the China government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute to the retirement 

benefits schemes based on a certain percentage of their payroll to fund the benefits. The only obligation of 

the Group with respect to these retirement benefits schemes is to make the required contributions under the 

schemes.

Employees employed by the Group outside Hong Kong are covered by the appropriate local defined 

contribution schemes pursuant to the local labour rules and regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no forfeited contribution, which arose upon employees leaving 

the retirement benefits scheme and which are available to reduce the contribution payable in the futures 

years.
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 September 2012, 

a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a) The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to selected 

participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

(b) The participants include:

(i) (1) any employee or proposed employee of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity 

(“Invested Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest, including any executive 

director of the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(2) any non-executive director (including independent non-executive directors) of the 

Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(5) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support 

to the Group or any Invested Entity;

(6) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any 

securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(7) any joint venture partner or counter-party to business transactions of the Group.

(ii) any company wholly owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of 

participants.

(c) The exercise price of a share option shall be a price determined by the directors and shall at least be 

the higher of:

(i) the closing price of a share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 

sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and

(ii) the average closing price of a share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(d) Maximum number of shares:

(i) The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options 

granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 

schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time; and

(ii) The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted 

under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate, exceed 10% of 

the shares in issue at the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme (the “Limit”) provided 

that share options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be 

counted for the purpose of calculating the Limit.

(e) The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of share options granted and to 

be granted to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month 

period up to and including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

(f) The exercisable period should be determined by the board of directors upon grant of the share option 

but in any event should not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the share option.

The Share Option Scheme had been lapsed on 25 September 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no share option under the Share Option Scheme was 

granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled. At 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no outstanding share options 

under the Share Option Scheme.

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

40.1 General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below.

Proportion of ownership interest

Name of subsidiary

Place of

incorporation/

operation

Issued and fully

paid share

capital

Group’s effective

interest Directly held Indirectly held

Principal

activities

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Crownet Financial Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd  

（眾網金融科技（上海）有限公司）(note a)

The PRC/The PRC RMB14,231,000 100% 100% – – 100% 100% Financial leasing and other 

financial services

Dadi Feichi (note b) The PRC/The PRC RMB5,000,000 51% 51% – – 51% 51% Publication, purchase and 

distribution of books

Shanxi Dadi Jinxin Environmental Science and  

Technology Research Institute Co., Ltd (note b)

The PRC/The PRC RMB15,000,000 60% 60% – – 60% 60% Environmental consultancy 

service

Hesting Bio Limited Hong Kong/ 

Hong Kong

HK$1,470,000 51% 51% 51% 51% – – Sale of healthcare products
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(a) These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.

(b) These subsidiaries are domestic enterprise with limited liabilities established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give 

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive 

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year.

40.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”)

The table below shows the details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material 

NCI:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation and 

principal place of 

business

Proportion of 

ownership interests 

and voting rights 

held by NCI

Total comprehensive 

income/(expense) 

allocated 

to NCI Accumulated NCI

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Keen Renown Group The PRC 40% 40% 1,111 (17,943) (62,558) (63,669)

Dadi Feichi The PRC 49% 49% (25,292) (13,562) (171,071) (145,779)

Jinxin Keyuan The PRC 40% 40% (2,403) (3,516) 4,929 7,332

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests (2,633) (2,290)

(231,333) (204,406)
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) 

(continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Keen Renown Group which has material NCI. 

The summarised financial information presented below represents the amounts before intergroup 

eliminations.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

NCI percentage 40% 40%

Current assets 103,894 107,499

Current liabilities (260,289) (266,672)

Net liabilities (156,395) (159,173)

Carrying amount of NCI (62,558) (63,669)

Revenue – –

Loss for the year (3) (47,631)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 2,779 (44,858)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  

allocated to NCI 1,111 (17,943)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (5) (46)

Net cash outflow (5) (46)
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) 

(continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Dadi Feichi which has material NCI. The 

summarised financial information presented below represents the amounts before intergroup 

eliminations.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

NCI percentage 49% 49%

Current assets 632,108 653,785

Current liabilities (981,232) (951,293)

Net liabilities (349,124) (297,508)

Carrying amount of NCI (171,071) (145,779)

Revenue – –

Loss for the year (61,694) (47,560)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (51,617) (27,677)

Total comprehensive expense for the year allocated to NCI (25,292) (13,562)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities 386 (2)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 386 (2)
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) 

(continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Jinxin Keyuan which has material NCI. 

The summarised financial information presented below represents the amounts before intergroup 

eliminations.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

NCI percentage 40% 40%

Current assets 18,030 25,006

Non-current assets 378 533

Current liabilities (6,086) (7,210)

Net assets 12,322 18,329

Carrying amount of NCI 4,929 7,332

Revenue 19,513 34,727

Loss for the year (5,365) (6,812)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (6,008) (8,791)

Total comprehensive expense for the year allocated to NCI (2,403) (3,516)

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities 4,438 (6,795)

Net cash flows used in investing activities – (425)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 4,438 (7,220)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 21 27

Right-of-use assets – 1,586

21 1,613

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment 3,053 4,506

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 727 1,344

Bank balances and cash 76 77

3,856 5,927

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 45,708 32,158

Borrowings 33,092 34,270

Lease liabilities – 1,217

78,800 67,645

Net current liabilities (74,944) (61,718)

Total assets less current liabilities (74,923) (60,105)

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 653

Net liabilities (74,923) (60,758)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

2024 2023

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 36,406 36,406

Reserves (111,329) (97,164)

Total capital deficiency (74,923) (60,758)

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the board of 

directors on 26 July 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Wu Xiaoming

Director
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2022 36,406 1,828,573 311,606 (2,158,750) 17,835
Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – (78,593) (78,593)

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2023 36,406 1,828,573 311,606 (2,237,343) (60,758)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – (14,165) (14,165)

As at 31 March 2024 36,406 1,828,573 311,606 (2,251,508) (74,923)

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Shanxi Environment as plaintiff has filed a civil claim to the People’s Court in Taiyuan, Shanxi Province, the PRC 

against Dadi Feichi and the Entrusted Loan Guarantor to recover the outstanding principal and interest of the 

entrusted loan. The court has handed down the enforcement ruling ordering the Entrusted Loan Guarantor 

to transfer the ownership of its assets to Shanxi Environment to partially settle the entrusted loan. The civil 

proceeding is still ongoing and Shanxi Environment will pursue enforcement of assets of the Entrusted Loan 

Guarantor to settle the remaining principal and interest of the entrusted loan. Any amount paid by the 

Entrusted Loan Guarantor for settlement of outstanding principal and interest of the entrusted loan would be 

set off against the account payables by the Entrusted Loan Guarantor to Dadi Feichi.

In order to settle the outstanding principal and interest of the entrusted loan, Dadi Feichi as plaintiff has 

also filed a civil claim to the People’s Court in Taiyuan, Shanxi Province, the PRC against the Entrusted Loan 

Guarantor to recover account receivables due from the Entrusted Loan Guarantor in relation to sale of books 

and publications in prior years. The civil proceeding is still ongoing.

43. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 

26 July 2024.
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RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 1,225,016 615,941 37,961 36,482 19,533

(Loss)/profit before taxation 133,147 (184,643) (377,143) (332,775) (90,477)
Income tax expenses (40,986) (11,485) (1,337) (128) (736)

(Loss)/profit for the year 92,161 (196,128) (378,480) (332,903) (91,213)

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 34,588 (152,500) (217,838) (287,148) (58,435)
Non-controlling interests 57,573 (43,628) (160,642) (45,755) (32,778)

92,161 (196,128) (378,480) (332,903) (91,213)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 53,733 48,786 56,159 21,859 30,122
Current assets 1,171,396 1,292,132 1,028,814 691,421 659,306
Current liabilities 139,659 970,215 1,058,671 1,049,600 1,096,238
Non-current liabilities 549,655 215 219 653 –




